## MECHANISMS OF IONIZING RADIATION-INDUCED CELL DEATH IN PRIMARY LUNG CELLS

by

Ronald Allan M. Panganiban

Dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the Molecular and Cell Biology Graduate Program Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy 2013





# DISSERTATION APPROVAL FOR THE DOCTORAL DISSERTATION IN THE MOLECULAR AND CELL BIOLOGY GRADUATE PROGRAM

Title of Dissertation: "Mechanisms of Ionizing Radiation-Induced Cell Death in Primary Lung Cells"

Name of Candidate:

Ronald Allan M. Panganiban Doctor of Philosophy Degree March 5, 2013

DISSERTATION AND ABSTRACT APPROVED:

Dr. Mark Whitnall DEPARTMENT OF AFRSRD Committee Chairperson

n

DATE: 3/19/2013

3/19/2013

Dr. Regina Day / ) DEPARTMENT ØF PHARMACOLOGY Dissertation Advisor

Dr. Joseph McCabe

3/19/2013

DEPARTMENT OF ANATOMY, PHYSIOLOGY, AND GENETICS Committee Member

3/19/2013

3/19/2013

Dr. Mary Lou Cutler DEPARTMENT OF PHARMACOLOGY Committee Member

Dr. Donald Bottaro NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF HEALTH (NIH) Committee Member

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my sincerest gratitude to all the people who have helped me make this work possible.

To my mentor and advisor, Regina Day, PhD, for all the guidance and advice she has given me, for allowing me to commit mistakes in the lab which has been an efficient way to learn things, and for taking me under her wings.

To my thesis advisory committee, Mark Whitnall, PhD., Joseph McCabe, PhD, Donald Bottaro, PhD, and Mary Lou Cutler, PhD for their invaluable input and advice.

To my colleagues in Day Lab, especially to Dr. Ognoon Mungusukh, for sharing with me lessons in lab and life.

To my professors in Uniformed Services University for reminding us the value of what we do.

To my friends in the US and back home in the Philippines for all the support and motivation.

And to my family, most especially to my mother, Geronima M. Panganiban, who has always believed and loved me unconditionally, thank you so much.

## DEDICATION

To my family, mentors, and friends.

### **Copyright Statement**

The author hereby certifies that the use of any copyrighted material in the thesis manuscript entitled:

### "Mechanisms of Ionizing Radiation-Induced Cell Death in Primary Lung Cells"

is appropriately acknowledged and, beyond brief excerpts, is with the permission of the copyright owner.

Ronald Allan M. Panganiban

Molecular and Cell Biology Program

Uniformed Services University

April 5, 2013

#### ABSTRACT

## Mechanisms of Ionizing Radiation-induced Cell Death in Primary Lung Cells Ronald Allan M. Panganiban, PhD, 2013

Thesis directed by: Regina Day, PhD, Associate Professor, Department of Pharmacology and Graduate Program in Molecular and Cell Biology

Exposure to high doses of ionizing radiation (IR) causes serious biological damage that can lead to death. During the course of radiotherapy, the use of IR for the treatment of thoracic cancers is limited by IR-induced cell death to the underlying normal lung tissue potentially leading to pneumonitis and/or fibrotic remodeling of the lung. Studies on the mechanisms of IR-induced cell death have been exponentially increasing, however, most of these studies are conducted on immortalized cancer cell lines that are not lung-derived and therefore do not represent the biological status of normal lung cells. We investigated the mechanisms of IR-induced cell death in low passage cultures of primary pulmonary artery endothelial cells (PAEC) exposed to varying doses of X-rays. We observed that irradiated PAEC undergo accelerated senescence as the primary mode of cell death at doses examined. The cells displayed markers of senescence including cell cycle arrest, upregulation of cell cycle checkpoint proteins *e.g.*, p21/waf1, morphological alterations, and increased senesecence-associated  $\beta$ -galactosidase (SA- $\beta$ -gal) activity. Increasing the dose shifted the mode to apoptosis as shown by neutral comet assay. The apoptotic cell death was also confirmed by caspase-3, 8, and 9 activation assays. We found that no necrosis is induced by all doses of X-rays examined. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) have been demonstrated to cause endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress. We thus explored the presence and contribution of ER stress in mediating cell death in

irradiated PAEC. We found that ER stress was activated as shown by increased eIF2 $\alpha$ phosphorylation and increased mRNA expressions of GRP78, CHOP, and GADD34. Experiments using salubrinal, an ER stress inhibitor, revealed that ER stress-mediated cell death was upstream of apoptosis but not accelerated senescence. Recent investigations have also shown that accelerated senescence is a state of continuous proliferative signaling in the presence of cell cycle blockade. We used pharmacological inhibitors of IGF-1R, PI3K, and mTOR which are known proteins that function in cell growth and proliferation to interrogate the roles of these proteins in IR-induced accelerated senescent phenotype. Blocking the activity of these proteins using AG1024 (IGF-1R inhibitor), Ly294002 (PI3K inhibitor) and rapamycin (mTOR inhibitor) attenuated the increase in SA-β-gal activity, inhibited p21/waf1 upregulation, and prevented morphological alterations in irradiated PAEC. We also found a modest increase in the phosphorylation of IGF-1R at early time-point post-irradiation and upon treatment with 10  $\mu$ M H<sub>2</sub>0<sub>2</sub> suggesting that the early activation of IGF-1R is mediated by ROS, possibly through deactivation of IGF-1R phosphatases. The IGF-1R-mediated accelerated senescence also required intact mTOR but not necessarily PI3K/Akt activation as AG1024 treatment leads to decreased mTOR activity shown by decreased levels of pS6. Finally, we found that IGF-1R is not involved in modulating apoptosis in irradiated PAEC as shown by absence of modulation of caspase-3 activation in the presence of AG1024 and after increasing the concentration of IGF-1 in the cell culture. Our findings reveal mechanisms of IR-induced cell death in PAEC that may be helpful in designing more effective therapeutic strategies for limiting the effects of IR during the course of radiotherapy or after exposure to accidental irradiation.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: Dissertation Introduction	7
Ionizing Radiation-induced Cell Death	7
Apoptosis	
Accelerated Senescence	9
DNA Damage Signaling	
Protein Oxidation-mediated ER Stress Response	
Introduction Conclusions	14
CHAPTER 2: X Irradiation Induces ER Stress, Apoptosis, and Senescence in	
Pulmonary Artery Endothelial Cells	15
Abstract	16
Introduction	16
Materials and Methods	21
Results	28
Discussion	
Acknowledgements	
List of Figures	39
CHAPTER 3: Inhibition of IGF-1R Prevents Ionizing Radiation-Induced Primary	
Endothelial Cell Senescence	49
Abstract	50
Introduction	51
Materials and Methods	
Results	56
Discussion	
Acknowledgements	
List of Figures	
CHAPTER 4: Dissertation Discussion	78
REFERENCES	89

### **CHAPTER 1: Dissertation Introduction**

#### **IONIZING RADIATION-INDUCED CELL DEATH**

Exposure to ionizing radiation (IR) can cause severe to lethal consequences. During the course of radiotherapy, the use of IR for the treatment of cancers is limited by radiation-induced cell death to the underlying normal tissue. Such damage can lead to inflammation and/or fibrotic remodeling. For example, radiation-induced pneumonitis and pulmonary remodeling are relatively frequent adverse effects in patients receiving IR for the treatment of thoracic cancers (129; 198). Although studies of IR-induced damage have been exponentially increasing, the mechanisms of IR-induced cell death in primary, untransformed cells are still not well understood. This contributes to the delay in the search for effective countermeasures for the prevention of lethal effects of IR from clinical radiotherapy or from accidental radiation exposures.

Several modes of cell death following application of cellular stress have been described. These include necrosis, apoptosis, and cellular senescence. Necrosis, a form of cell death often described as a passive process, is characterized by early plasma membrane rupture and typically results from a high magnitude of stress relative to apoptosis and cellular senescence-like cell death (67; 173). A number of studies have described induction of necrosis following exposure to IR both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (3; 41; 89; 123).

#### APOPTOSIS

Apoptosis refers to the distinct biological mechanism induced by various stimuli that ultimately leads to programmed cell death (96). Often viewed as an active process of

cellular destruction that occurs under physiological (e.g. during embryogenesis and organogenesis) and pathological conditions (e.g. during exposure to various insults), apoptosis is characterized by chromatin condensation, DNA fragmentation, cell shrinkage, and formation of apoptotic bodies which is a consequence of separation of membrane-bound fragments containing cytosolic or nuclear contents (96; 206). The molecular mechanisms of radiation-induced apoptosis remain to be established. Multiple interacting pathways have been proposed based on independent studies mostly performed using immortalized cell lines. The active process of programmed cell death suggests that apoptosis is tightly regulated. Two distinct yet overlapping pathways of apoptosis have been proposed – the extrinsic and the intrinsic pathways. Which pathway is utilized by the cell ultimately depends on the nature and origin of the death signal (7; 159).

The extrinsic pathway is triggered by death stimuli originating outside the cell or in the plasma membrane. It is mediated by the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC), an oligomeric protein complex formed when specific death ligands bind to their corresponding transmembrane death receptors (7; 159). The known death receptors -CD95/Fas, TNF-R1, and TRAIL receptors- are members of the TNF superfamily that contain a cysteine-rich extracellular domain and an intracellular "death domain" (30). When death ligands bind to death receptors, the death domains interact with each other, leading to clustering of the receptors. This clustering leads to recruitment of other key players in the initiation phase of the extrinsic pathway such as the Fas-associated death domain (FADD) protein and the initiator caspase-8 which bind together through their corresponding death domains to form the death-inducing signaling complex (DISC) (7).

The intrinsic pathway, by contrast, results from signaling that initiates from inside the cell (e.g. IR-induced DNA damage). Unlike the DISC, the signaling platform of the intrinsic pathway is a non-canonical transmembrane signaling receptor known as the apoptosome (159). In this pathway, the cascade of events leading to cellular dismantling is initiated when cytochrome c is released from the mitochondria following mitochondrial outer membrane permeabilization (MOMP) (66; 159). Considered as the "point of no return" for apoptotic cell death, MOMP is induced by pro-apoptotic proteins belonging to the Bcl-2 family of pro-apoptotic and anti-apoptotic proteins (94; 175). Once in the cytosol, cytochrome c interacts with Apaf-1 which triggers the latter's oligomerization. In the presence of dATP as the source of energy, Apaf-1, together with cytochrome c, forms the apoptosome (66; 159). The apoptosome then activates and recruits the initiator caspase-9 in an allosteric fashion (66). This signaling pathway is considered as the canonical intrinsic (mitochondrial) pathway of apoptosis (194). Recently, a novel nonmitochondrial intrinsic pathway leading to programmed cell death has been proposed. In this new model, caspase 9 may be activated through a mechanism that does not require the involvement of Apaf-1 and cytochrome c (59; 155) such as during caspase-12induced caspase-9 activation in ER stress-mediated apoptosis (155).

#### ACCELERATED SENESCENCE

While the significance of radiation-induced necrotic and apoptotic cell deaths have been extensively studied, that of radiation-induced accelerated senescence has not started to gain recognition until fairly recently. The concept of cellular senescence dates back to the works of Hayflick and Moorhead in the 1960's, that established that untransformed cells grown *in vitro* lose their capacity to replicate after a certain number of passages. This finite number was termed the "Hayflick limit" and cells that had reached this state were viewed as senescent cells (78; 79). Today, cellular senescence is widely recognized as a state of cell cycle arrest characterized by altered cell morphology, aberrant expressions of cell cycle regulatory proteins (e.g. urpregulation of p53, p21/waf1, and p16INK4a), development of senescence-associated secretory phenotype (e.g. increased secretion of proinflammatory molecules), and increased senescenceassociated  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity (139). Over the years, various cellular stresses including DNA damaging agents and oxidative stress have been demonstrated to cause this phenotype independent of their passage number or *in vitro* age (139) This phenomenon is now commonly referred to as stress-induced accelerated senescence.

Multiple pathways have been described for the induction of accelerated senescence. One of the best described signaling pathways is the p53/p21/waf1 pathway. The cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21/waf1 is upregulated to induce cell cycle arrest, one of the salient features of the senescent state (139). Recent studies suggest that, in addition to cell cycle arrest signal, senescent cells also receive continuous proliferative signaling (6; 17; 18; 43). Central to this idea is the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), a cytoplasmic kinase known to be an integration point of many signals for growth, proliferation, and homeostasis in the cell (108). Inhibition of mTOR signaling attenuates the increase in senescence-associated  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity in several models of cellular senescence (6; 17; 18; 43). The cell cycle arrest and the development of the other markers of senescence including the alteration in cellular morphology and the increase in senescence-associated  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity have been thought of as uncoupled responses (139).

#### **DNA DAMAGE SIGNALING**

Multiple interacting signaling pathways are believed to be upregulated in response to DNA damage induced by lethal doses of IR (e.g. the SAPK/JNK, p53-dependent, and  $NF\kappa B$  pathways) (201). Ataxia telangiectasia mutated protein (ATM) plays a major role in radiation-induced apoptosis by acting as a sensor of DNA damage upstream of p53 (191). Upon detecting DNA damage, ATM phosphorylates and stabilizes p53 (22; 119; 191). p53 is a tumor-suppressor protein involved in cellular response to DNA damage and has been referred to as the "guardian of the genome" because of this role (7; 30). The status of p53 can affect the cellular response to a certain stimulus and has been shown to contribute largely to the cell's decision to undergo apoptosis or not. For example, overexpression of wild-type p53 increased apoptosis in a p53-lacking murine leukemic cell line and human colon tumor-derived cell line (170; 204). In addition, thymocytes lacking p53 were shown to be more resistant to apoptosis-inducing agents that induce DNA double-strand breaks than those having wild-type p53 (31; 121). In the context of apoptotic signaling, activated p53 is thought to regulate the expression of Bcl-2 family members by neutralizing anti-apoptotic proteins (e.g. Bcl-2 and  $Bcl-x_L$ ) and by activating pro-apoptotic proteins (e.g. Bax) at the same time which leads to activation of the initiator caspase-9 (119; 191). In a p53-independent manner, caspase-2, the only known caspase found in the nucleus, has also been proposed to be necessary for DNA damage response, having both initiator and effector roles (25; 212). Caspase-2 may be activated directly by DNA damage suggesting that its signaling leading to the mitochondrial pathway occurs via a p53-independent pathway (66).

#### **PROTEIN OXIDATION-MEDIATED ER STRESS RESPONSE**

An accumulating body of evidence implicates protein oxidation as a trigger of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress-mediated apoptosis. Besides being a site of calcium sequestration, protein folding and maturation, the ER plays a significant role as a sensor of cellular homeostasis, triggering the unfolded protein response (UPR, also known as ER stress response and referred to as such throughout the thesis) in response to cellular stress such as the accumulation of oxidized proteins (137). Oxidized proteins tend to form protein aggregates which are far more difficult to eliminate (125; 134). In a report by Yakagawa et al. (178), the authors suggested that ER stress is likely to be caused by generation and accumulation of ROS-induced oxidized proteins in this organelle. Accumulation of oxidatively modified, abnormal proteins in the ER may also result from ROS-induced damage to specific ER resident proteins such as foldases and/or chaperones whose functional perturbation prevents them from properly folding the newlysynthesized proteins and refolding the abnormal proteins (25; 178). Independent studies have demonstrated this preferential oxidation of ER resident proteins (e.g. Grp78, calreticulin, Hsp70, Hsp90, disulfide isomerase, etc) by ROS and ROS-generating substances through the use of modern proteomic tools (53; 124; 165; 178; 186). When abnormally high levels of oxidized proteins reach a critical threshold that the ER cannot handle, caspase-mediated apoptosis may be induced (99).

The ER stress response can be divided into three phases – the initiation phase, the commitment phase and the execution phase. The initiation phase is mediated by signaling through the ER receptors: protein kinase (PKR)-like ER kinase (PERK), activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6) and inositol-requiring enzyme 1 (IRE1), transmembrane

receptors which are all associated with GRP78, an ER-resident chaperone whose dissociation from these receptors leads to activation of the UPR (177). PERK mediates the initial response by phosphorylating eIF2 $\alpha$  that attenuates protein translation, a response that is better related to survival than apoptosis (137; 177). On the other hand, activated ATF6 induces the expression of XBP1 mRNA which is spliced by IRE1 to yield sXBP1 mRNA (205). The spliced form of XBP1 has a more potent transcriptional activity and its sustained activation has been shown to induce endothelial apoptosis (205; 209). The initiation phase is followed by the commitment phase which involves the activation of downstream pro-apoptotic molecules including C/EBP homologous protein (CHOP) (99; 177; 178). When the stress is too much to handle (e.g. persistent protein aggregation), the response results in the execution phase where different caspases are activated (177). Several groups have demonstrated a role for ER stress response in the activation of mitochondrial dependent and independent caspases (4; 91; 142; 143). Caspase-12, which is localized in ER, has been proposed as an initiator caspase of UPR that is activated by calpain in response to  $Ca^{2+}$  release from ER lumen (28; 66; 137; 176). Caspase-12 in turn activates caspase-9 without the need for activating cytochrome c or Apaf-1 suggesting a non-mitochondrial pathway of ER stress-mediated apoptosis (155; 177). Caspase-12 is known to be expressed only in rodents and caspase-4 is thought to fulfill the role of caspase-12 in humans (177). The link between ER stress and senescence is not as well studied as the link between ER stress and apoptosis. ER stress has been shown to induce PERK-dependent induction of p53/47 mRNA translation, an isoform of p53, thereby causing arrest at the G2 phase (21; 182). In a study conducted by Minami et al (133), the authors showed that GADD34, a downstream target of CHOP, regulates

p21/waf1 expression and induces cellular senescence which then causes loss of proliferation in fibroblasts. This suggests another role for GADD34 and that ER stress response may lead to cellular senescence.

Direct evidence that IR causes ER stress-mediated apoptosis is lacking in the literature. However, ROS such as hydrogen peroxide (132) and superoxide (53) and certain cytotoxic drugs (e.g. doxorubicin and etoposide), cadmium, sodium selenite, and cigarette smoke (53; 70; 178; 203) that generate ROS have all been demonstrated to induce ER stress that leads to apoptosis. Radiation therapy has also been reported to result in the accumulation of misfolded proteins in the ER that triggers UPR (137). Recently, He *et al.* (80) demonstrated that IR elicits the induction of ER stress in fibroblasts post-irradiation via splicing of the XBP1 mRNA, a key mediator of ER stress.

#### **INTRODUCTION CONCLUSIONS**

In this dissertation, we address the gaps of knowledge about IR-induced cell death in normal lung endothelial cells. We found that lung endothelial cells respond to varying doses of radiation with differential modes of cell death that involve multiple signaling mechanisms. The results presented herein may be useful in designing more effective therapeutic strategies for the prevention of adverse effects of exposure to radiation during the course of radiotherapy or accidental irradiation.

## CHAPTER 2: X Irradiation Induces ER Stress, Apoptosis, and Senescence in Pulmonary Artery Endothelial Cells

Ronald Allan M. Panganiban, Ognoon Mungunsukh, and Regina M. Day\*

Department of Pharmacology Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences Bethesda, MD 20814, USA

\* To whom correspondences should be sent: Regina M. Day, Ph.D.
Department of Pharmacology
Bldg C Rm 2023
4301 Jones Bridge Rd
Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences
Bethesda, MD 20814-4799, USA
301-295-3236
301-295-3220 fax
rday@usuhs.mil

Running title: Mechanisms of Radiation-induced Death in Lung Cells

Key words: X-ray, gamma radiation, apoptosis, senescence, ER stress, primary lung cells, murine, pulmonary fibrosis

#### ABSTRACT

Purpose: The use of clinical radiation for cancer treatment is limited by damage to underlying normal tissue including to the vascular endothelium. We investigated the mechanisms of X-ray-induced cell damage to endothelial cells. Methods: We evaluated necrosis, apoptosis, cellular senescence, and the contribution of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress in pulmonary artery endothelial cells (PAEC) irradiated with X-rays (2 - 50)Gray). Results: Clonogenic assays showed that 10 Gy induced ~99.9% loss of cell viability. No necrosis was detected using lactate dehydrogenase assays, but a low population underwent extrinsic and intrinsic apoptosis, as indicated by the activation of caspases 3, 8 and 9 as well as by neutral comet assay. A majority of PAEC underwent accelerated senescence, as indicated by morphological changes, increased 21 kD cyclindependent kinase inhibitor (p21/waf1), decreased sirtuin 1 (SIRT1), and elevated senescence-associated  $\beta$ -galactosidase (SA- $\beta$ -gal). ER stress was detected by assays for glucose-regulated protein 78 (GRP78), CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein homologous protein (CHOP), and growth arrest and DNA damage-inducible protein 34 (GADD34) mRNA, and transient phosphorylation of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 alpha (eIF2 $\alpha$ ). The ER stress inhibitor salubrinal blocked ~50% of apoptosis with no effect on senescence. Conclusions: X-rays primarily induced cellular senescence with limited levels of apoptosis in endothelial cells. ER stress contributed to apoptosis but not to senescence.

#### INTRODUCTION

Ionizing radiation (IR) is used as a principal therapeutic modality for cancer treatment (9; 105). Radiation in the thoracic region is usually applied in fractionated

doses (often ~2 Gray/fraction) to total doses of ~30-70 Gy for the treatment of primary lung and breast cancers as well as metastatic tumors (127; 150; 200). Recent studies indicate that single doses of high radiation may provide superior results in terms of cancer cell eradication in comparison to fractionated doses (32; 83). The use of three-dimensional conformal radiotherapy to improve target delivery and minimize normal tissue exposure allows an increase of the total dose to 78-90 Gy, but radiation is still fractionated (~2 Gy/fraction) (131). However, in patients with non-small cell lung cancer, higher fractionated doses (5-24 Gy) to reach total doses of over 110 Gy were shown to provide higher patient survival rates than lower fractionated doses with lower total doses (51). In patients with thoracic cancers, stereotactic single-dose radiation, using 20-30 Gy, has been shown to be effective for both primary lung cancers and lung metastases (62). Thus, higher single doses of radiation are becoming available with improved clinical techniques.

A major limitation to the use of high dose radiation is injury to the surrounding normal tissues. The use of radiation in thoracic cancer treatment is limited by lung damage, pneumonitis and/or irreversible fibrotic remodeling (35; 163). Although much research has focused on epithelial cell apoptosis in lung injury and fibrosis, there is substantial evidence for the importance of alterations to endothelial cell function in precipitating pulmonary injury following radiation exposure. Endothelial cell damage is an early effect of radiation (65; 95; 147; 207), resulting in vascular leak, edema, and increased inflammation (35; 69; 172; 207). It is postulated that vascular leakage to the extravascular space may play a precipitating role in the subsequent development of pneumonitis and fibrosis (69; 102; 109).

Radiation can kill cells through either necrotic or apoptotic cell death and can induce accelerated cellular senescence. Necrotic cell death is characterized by early plasma membrane rupture, dilatation of cytoplasmic organelles, and uncontrolled release of cytoplasmic contents (45; 67). In cell culture, necrosis can be detected by assays of the cellular medium for released enzymes, such as lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) (45). In contrast, apoptotic cell death, also referred to as programmed cell death, involves a series of regulated events leading to destruction of the cell. The events that occur during apoptotic cell death include: the rapid externalization of phophatidylserine; permeabilization of the outer mitochondrial membrane, which may be mediated by proapoptotic members of the anti- B-cell lymphoma 2 (Bcl-2) protein family, allowing the release of cytochrome c; the activation of caspases and formation of apoptosomes; and internucleosomal DNA cleavage (45; 199). Independent measures of apoptosis in cell culture include cytochrome c release in the medium, caspase activation by activity assays or western blotting for the activated, truncated forms of the caspases, or detection of DNA laddering, by neutral comet assay or DNA gel electrophoresis (199; 202).

Cellular senescence is a phenomenon by which cells lose the capacity to divide or replicate (139). Accelerated senescence can occur as a result of environmental stress or DNA damage (139). Senescence can be detected in cell culture by a variety of markers including: the increased expression of senescence-associated beta-galactosidase (SA- $\beta$ -gal); cell cycle arrest and inhibition of proliferation; increased expression of cell growth regulatory proteins including cycle checkpoint proteins; downregulation of sirtuin 1 (SIRT1); and by altered expression of anti-apoptotic proteins such as anti-apoptotic members of the Bcl-2 family; and morphological changes such as increased cell size and

flattening (139).

Specific damage to biological molecules by radiation is believed to lead to cell death and/or senescence. Recent investigations suggest that in addition to DNA, proteins may be initial and important targets of ionizing radiation in both prokaryotic and eukaryotic systems (42; 50). In eukaryotic cells the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) acts as a mediator of signals in response to damaged proteins. Besides being a site of calcium sequestration, protein folding and maturation, the ER is a sensor of cellular homeostasis. An accumulating body of evidence implicates oxidized, damaged proteins as triggers of the ER stress pathway (also known as unfolded protein response) (98; 185). Studies involving reactive oxygen species (ROS, (132) and ROS-generating substances including cytotoxic drugs (e.g., doxorubicin and etoposide) (53), cadmium (203), sodium selenite (70), and cigarette smoke (178) have shown induction of ER stress that leads to cell death. Radiation has also been shown to elicit the induction of ER stress in immortalized cell lines (80). However, direct evidence demonstrating that radiation causes ER stressmediated cell death in primary endothelial cells is lacking in the literature. As IR generates ROS inside the cell, it is possible that ER stress can be elicited leading to cell death in irradiated cells.

The mechanisms of death and/or the induction of accelerated senescence induced by radiation depend on a number of factors including radiation dosage, the cell type, and the transformed status of the cell (93; 179). Many cancer cells, including lung, prostate, immortalized keratinocytes, and colon cancer cells, have been demonstrated to primarily undergo apoptosis in response to radiation from 1 to 20 Gy (74; 107; 153; 161). High radiation exposures ( $\geq$ 50 Gy) have been demonstrated to induce necrosis in leukemia cells (190). Non-immortalized chondrocytes exposed to 10 Gy radiation undergo senescence (82). Keratinocytes and bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells exposed to 20 Gy radiation exhibit growth arrest and senescence but no detectable levels of apoptosis (34; 153). In contrast, smooth muscle cells exposed to 50 Gy undergo both growth arrest and apoptosis (32).

Several studies have demonstrated the lethal effects of radiation on endothelial cells. Aortic endothelial cells and human umbilical vein endothelial cells have been shown to exhibit a senescence-like phenotype upon exposure to ionizing radiation (2-15 Gy; (87; 145). Using pulmonary artery endothelial cells (PAEC), Stitt-Fischer et al. (2010) suggested that there is an absence of accelerated senescence as well as negligible levels of apoptosis after 0.5-10 Gy X-ray exposure, although there was an observation of inceased levels of tumor protein 53 (p53) and the 21 kD cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21/waf1, which are markers of apoptosis and senescence. Thus, the mode of cell death induced by radiation on pulmonary endothelial cells and the underlying mechanisms remain unclear.

Here we have investigated the effects of X-ray irradiation on the pulmonary endothelium using low passage cultures of untransformed, non-immortalized bovine PAEC, which have been extensively used as a model of endothelial injury (57; 84; 135; 164; 174; 193). We first hypothesized that ionizing radiation may induce multiple modes of loss of cell viability, possibly including necrosis or apoptosis, and/or accelerated senescence. Our data indicate that accelerated senescence is the primary response to Xray irradiation from 2-50 Gy. Apoptosis occurs at higher doses of radiation (>10 Gy) but in a minority of the cell population. No necrosis was observed at any level of radiation. Next, we investigated the contribution of ER stress in radiation-induced apoptosis and senescence at 50 Gy. This level of radiation was utilized to provide a maximal apoptotic response in the cell population. We found that ER stress response was triggered upstream of apoptosis but not upstream of cellular senescence in PAEC. Our findings suggest that cellular senescence triggered in response to clinically relevant doses of X radiation may be a driving force behind radiation-induced vascular leak and related pathology in the lung.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

Cell culture and irradiation. Bovine PAEC were purchased from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA, USA). Passage 3-8 cells were used for all experiments. PAEC were cultured in Roswell Park Memorial Institute Medium (RPMI) 1640 (Gibco Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY, USA) with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS; Gemini Bio-Products, Sacremento, CA, USA), 1% penicillin/streptomycin and 0.5% fungizone (Gibco Life Technologies). Cells were grown in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere cell culture incubator. Drugs and inhibitors for culture were: bleomycin (Hospira, Lake Forest, IL, USA); caspase 3-inhibitor benzyloxycarbonyl-Asp-Glu-Val-Asp-fluoromethylketone (zDEVD; R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA) and salubrinal (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Santa Cruz, CA, USA). Control cells were treated for the same time with the same amount of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO; Sigma-Aldrich Co., St. Louis, MO, USA) used to prepare drug/inhibitor solutions. Unless otherwise specified, PAEC were either irradiated or sham-irradiated at subconfluence (70-90%). Irradiation was conducted using a RS2000 Biological Irradiator (Rad Source Technologies, Alpharetta, GA, USA) at a dose rate of 2.4 Gy/min (160kV, 25mA). Cells were first placed in cold phosphate buffered saline (PBS; 2.68 mM KCl, 1.47 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 137 mM NaCl, 8.1 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>; Gibco Life Technologies) on ice for transport to the irradiator facility (5 minutes). Treatment was performed at room temperature. After irradiation fresh regular medium was added and cells were incubated at  $37^{0}$ C.

*Clonogenic assay.* The clonogenic assay was performed based on a protocol for primary cells with modifications for PAEC (60). In comparison to transformed cell lines that proliferate easily, we found that PAEC were susceptible to poor cell growth and detachment if seeded at very low densities, and subsequent X-ray exposure at such densities may significantly affect the outcome of clonogenic assay. To resolve this issue, we performed delayed plating where PAEC were first cultured to 70-90% confluence, exposed to varying doses of X-rays, incubated, and seeded then for clonogenic assays. Irradiated or sham irradiated PAEC were incubated at 37<sup>o</sup>C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for 16-24 h. Cells were then trypsinized, counted using a haemocytometer, and plated on 60 mm dishes coated with 0.5% gelatin (modification to allow attachment of PAEC). The cells were incubated for 14 days. The medium was carefully replaced every 3-4 days throughout the incubation period; cells did not detach during the change in medium. At the end of the incubation period, the colonies were stained with crystal violet. Colonies were defined as groups consisting of  $\geq$ 50 cells. Surviving fractions were calculated as a function of plating efficiency of non-irradiated controls. The plating efficiency (PE) was defined as the percentage of the number of colonies that formed for every cell that was seeded: PE =# of colonies/# of cells seeded  $\times$  100%). The surviving fraction (SF) was then expressed as the number of colonies formed after IR for every cell that was seeded multiplied by the PE: SF = # of colonies/# of cells seeded × PE (60).

*LDH assay.* Necrotic death of irradiated and sham irradiated PAEC was determined using the LDH Cytotoxicity Detection Kit (Clontech, Mountain View, CA, USA). The medium from irradiated or sham irradiated cells was assayed according to the manufacturer's instructions at specific time points postirradiation. Cells did not receive any additional treatments. As a positive control, equal numbers of PAEC were treated with 1% Triton X-100 to provide 100% cell lysis. Cell death is expressed as the percentage of the LDH measured in the medium of the incubated cells divided by the total LDH released in the medium of cells treated with 1% Triton X-100.

*Neutral comet assay.* The neutral comet measures double-stranded DNA breaks that occur in late stage apoptotic cells. PAEC were irradiated or sham irradiation or treated with 4.5 mU/ml bleomycin for 16 h as a positive control. Cells were embedded in 1% low-melting point agarose (Sigma-Aldrich) and placed on a comet slide according to the manufacturer's protocol (Trevigen Inc., Gaithersburg, MD, USA). Slides were placed in lysis solution (2.5 M NaCl, 100 mM ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA), 10 mM Tris base, 1% Na-lauryl sarcosinate, 1% Triton X-100, pH 9.9) for 20 min, washed by immersion in Tris/Borate/EDTA (TBE) buffer (0.089 M Tris, 0.089 M boric acid, 0.002 M EDTA, pH 8.0; chemicals from Sigma-Aldrich). The nuclei were electrophoresed for 10 min, 6 mA in a horizontal mini-electrophoresis apparatus (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA, USA) with 1×TBE buffer. Cells were fixed with 70% ethanol for 10 min

and air-dried overnight. Cells were stained with 1× Sybr® Green (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, USA) and visualized with an Olympus BX61 fluorescence microscope (Olympus, Center Valley, PA, USA) using 10× magnification at 478 nm excitation and 507 nm emission wavelengths. Approximately 100 cells were randomly selected and microscopically scored according to tail length. Comets were defined as apoptotic cells as previously described (104).

*Caspase activity assays.* Caspase activation occurs during early apoptotic signaling. Caspase-3/7, 8, and 9 activity assays were performed on irradiated and sham irradiated PAEC using Caspase-Glo<sup>TM</sup> Assays (Promega, Madison, WI, USA). At the indicated times postirradiation, PAEC were washed with cold PBS, lysed in PBS containing 1% NP-40 and 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS; Sigma-Aldrich). Lysates were transferred to microcentrifuge tubes, vortexed for 5 sec, incubated on ice for 20 min, and then centrifuged at 14,000 x *g* at 4°C for 15 min. Ten  $\mu$ g of 50  $\mu$ l lysis buffer was mixed with 50  $\mu$ l of equilibrated Caspase-Glo<sup>TM</sup> reagent (5). After 1 h incubation at room temperature, luminescent signals were measured using a Dynex MLX Microtiter Plate Luminometer (Dynex Technologies, Chantilly, VA, USA).

*Cell proliferation assay.* PAEC were seeded at  $2 \times 10^5$  in 35 mm dishes and incubated for 24 h. After incubation, cells were at about 70-90% confluence. Irradiated or sham irradiated cells were counted manually using haemocytometer at indicated postirradiation time-points.

SA- $\beta$ -gal activity assay. As an indicator of cellular senescence, we performed the SA- $\beta$ gal assay according to established protocols with minor modifications (10; 46). To avoid density-dependent false positive expression of SA- $\beta$ -gal, PAEC were seeded at 0.8-1.0  $\times$ 10<sup>4</sup> cells per 35 mm dish containing coverslips (about 50-60% confluence) and incubated overnight prior to irradiation or sham irradiation. At indicated time-points postirradiation, cells were washed twice in ice cold PBS, fixed in 2% formaldehyde, 0.2% glutaraldehyde in PBS for 5 min at room temperature. Cells were washed again twice in ice-cold PBS. 2 ml of freshly prepared X-gal staining solution (1 mg/ml of 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl P3-D-galactoside in 40 mM citric acid/sodium phosphate, pH 6.0, 5 mM potassium ferrocyanide, 5 mM potassium ferricyanide, 50 mM NaCl, 2 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>; all chemicals from Sigma-Aldrich) was then added to the culture dishes and incubated for 12-20 h at  $37^{\circ}C$  (without CO<sub>2</sub>). Subsequently, cells were washed twice in ice-cold PBS, once in methanol and allowed to dry. Coverslips were mounted on microscope slides for analysis. Entire cell population in 3 random microscopic fields (at least 100 cells) were analyzed for perinuclear blue staining indicative of SA-β-gal activity.

*Quantitative real-time reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR).* Total RNA was isolated from cells using an RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA). Genomic DNA was removed using the RNase-Free DNAse Set (Qiagen). RNA was quantified spectroscopically (ND-1000 Spectrophotometer, NanoDrop, Wilmington, DE, USA). RNA (1.0 μg) was subjected to reverse transcription with GeneAmp® RNA PCR kit according to the manufacturer's protocol (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA, USA). Complementary DNA (cDNA) was diluted 10-fold with water. Diluted cDNA (2

 $\mu$ l) was used in a 20  $\mu$ l qPCR reaction. PCR was performed in triplicates using 6  $\mu$ M of each primer and 10 µl of SybrGreen® PCR master mix (Applied Biosystems). Primers for qRT-PCR were designed using NCBI /Primer-BLAST design tool. Primers were purchased from Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA, USA): glucose-regulated protein 78 (GRP78) forward 5'-GCC GAC GGC GCT GGA AAG AT-3', reverse 5'-GCC GAT GAG TCG CTT GGC GT-3'; CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein homologous protein (CHOP) forward 5'-GGT GGC AGC GAC AGA GCC AA-3' reverse 5'-CAT GCG TTG CTT GCC AGC CC-3'; growth arrest and DNA damage-inducible protein 34 (GADD34) forward 5'-AGC GGC TGA GGA GGA CCG AG-3' reverse 5'-CGG GCG GCA CAC CCT AAC AG-3'. As an internal control, mRNA levels of glyceraldehydes-3phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) were determined using primers: forward 5'-GAA GCT CGT CAT CAA TGG AAA-3' and reverse 5'-CCA CTT GAT GTT GGC AGG AT-3'. For quantification, the comparative threshold cycle (Ct) method was used to assess relative changes in mRNA levels between the untreated (control) and the irradiated samples.

*Western blotting.* Whole cell lysates from PAEC were prepared in RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris HCl pH 8, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate and 0.1% SDS) supplemented with protease inhibitors (Sigma-Aldrich) and 1mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), 2mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub> or Halt phosphatase inhibitors (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA). Samples were vortexed and incubated for 15-20 min at 4°C. DNA was sheared using an ultra sonicator (Heat Systems-Ultrasonics Inc., Plainview, NY,

USA) for 10 sec at 4°C. Samples were centrifuged at 14,000 x g for 15 min and supernatant was collected.

Protein concentrations from whole cell extracts were determined using the bicinchoninic acid (BCA)® Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Scientific). Equal amounts of proteins were separated in SDS-PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose membrane. Blots were blocked in either 5% milk in Tris buffered saline with Tween-20 (TBST; 20 mM Tris, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1% Tween 20, pH 7.5) or 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in TBST (chemicals from Sigma-Aldrich). Antibodies used were: anti-active caspase-3, anti-caspase 3, and Bcl-2 (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA, USA); antiphosphorylated-eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2 alpha (eIF2 $\alpha$ ; Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA, and Santa Cruz Biotechnology); anti-eIF2 $\alpha$ , anti-p21/waf1, and antiβ-actin (Santa Cruz Biotechnology); anti-SIRT1 (Abcam, Cambridge, MA, USA). Proteins were detected with horseradish peroxidase-linked secondary antibodies and SuperSignal West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Thermo Scientific/ Pierce Biotechnology, Inc., Rockford, IL, USA). Wright Cell Imaging Facility ImageJ software (http://www.uhnresearch.ca/facilities/wcif/ index.htm) was used for densitometry analysis.

*PCR for the detection of X-box binding protein 1 (XBP1) splicing.* Total RNA was isolated and quantified as described above RNA (500 ng) was subjected to reverse transcription with GeneAmp® RNA PCR kit according to the manufacturer's protocol (Applied Biosystems). Complementary DNA was diluted 10-fold with water, and then 5  $\mu$ l of cDNA was used for 20  $\mu$ l PCR reaction. PCR products were amplified with

annealing temperature at  $53^{\circ}$ C for 40 cycles and separated by electrophoresis on a 2.5% agarose gel. Primers for XBP1 were: forward 5'- CCT TGT AGT TGA GAA TCA GG-3', and reverse 5'-GGG GCT TTG TAT ATA CGT GA-3'. Tunicamycin (10 µg/ml) to a positive control induce ER stress was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich.

*Statistics*. Means  $\pm$  standard deviations (SD) or error of the mean (SEM) were calculated, and statistically significant differences between two groups were determined by the Student's *t* test; p <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

#### **Clonogenic Survival Assay of PAEC**

The clonogenic assay determines cellular replicative ability and measures all forms of cell death as well as cellular senescence (162). The dose required to reduce the surviving fraction by 63% (D<sub>0</sub>) (188) was 1.2 Gy for PAEC exposed to X-rays (Figure 1). After exposure to 8 Gy ~99.9% of PAEC lost proliferative capacity (Figure 1) in close agreement with findings from a previous study (174). After exposure to 50 Gy no colonies were formed (data not shown), but individual cells that did not form colonies were visible with crystal violet staining. This suggested that 50 Gy inhibited cellular proliferation but did not abolish cellular attachment and survival.

#### X-rays induce apoptosis but not necrosis in PAEC

We next investigated whether different modes of cell death may account for the loss of replicative ability identified in the clonogenic assay. We investigated the full range of radiation from 2-50 Gy (Figure 2). Release of LDH is a defining feature of cells

undergoing necrosis, including secondary necrosis in late-stage apoptotic cells. At 24 and 72 h postirradiation no significant release of LDH was detected, suggesting that X-irradiation from 2-50 Gy does not cause necrosis in PAEC.

The neutral comet assay detects internucleosomal DNA fragmentation that occurs in late apoptosis. Bleomycin, which we previously determined induces  $\sim 100\%$  apoptosis in PAEC, was used as a positive control (140). No significant apoptosis was observed after exposure to 4 Gy (Figure 3A). Exposures of 10-30 Gy caused an 8-18% increase in apoptosis compared to sham-irradiated controls at 24-48 h postirradiation. 50 Gy X-rays also resulted in  $\sim$ 15-28% increase in apoptosis compared to sham irradiation at 24-48 h postirradiation. We next investigated the time course of caspase-3 activation in irradiated PAEC, a biochemical hallmark of apoptotic signaling. Caspase-3 activity, measured by the Caspase-Glo<sup>TM</sup> Assay, was maximally induced ~5-fold, from  $0.66 \pm 0.04$  to  $3.31 \pm$ 0.5 (p<0.05) at 6 h and ~3.4-fold, from  $0.72 \pm 0.08$  to  $2.49 \pm 0.34$  (p<0.05) at 12 h postirradiation (Figure 3B). Immunoblot analysis of lysates from irradiated PAEC detected the presence of the cleaved, active form of caspase-3 at 6 and 12 h postirradiation (Figure 3C), coinciding with the increase in caspase-3 activity. To confirm that the DNA fragmentation observed in the neutral comet assay was indeed due to apoptotic signaling, we treated cells with the caspase-3 inhibitor zDEVD-FMK (Figure 3D). zDEVD-FMK contains the peptide DEVD that is recognized by caspase-3 and a FMK (fluoromethylketone) moiety that binds covalently to caspase-3 active site (14; 169) . It has been demonstrated that zDEVD-FMK has cross-reactivity towards other nontarget caspases (14) but for the purpose of investigating whether apoptosis occurs in irradiated PAEC, the use of zDEVD-FMK is sufficient to address the question. zDEVD

treatment resulted in ~60% inhibition, from  $20.6 \pm 4.84$  to  $13.6 \pm 2.11$  p<0.05, of radiation-induced apoptosis as determined by the neutral comet assay. This confirmed that the observed DNA fragmentation occurred as the result of apoptotic signaling in response to X-irradiation in PAEC.

To determine whether radiation-induced apoptosis activates the extrinsic (i.e., death receptor mediated) or intrinsic (i.e., mitochondrial) apoptotic pathways, we measured the activities of initiator caspases 8 and 9, respectively. Activation of either of these caspases leads to caspase-3 cleavage. The activity of either caspase 8 or 9 was maximal (~2.5-fold increase each compared with control) at 6 h postirradiation and gradually declined in a similar manner to caspase-3 (Figure 4A and B). Taken together, these results indicate both extrinsic and intrinsic apoptotic pathways contribute to death of a fraction of PAEC exposed to high-dose X-irradiation.

#### X-rays induce accelerated senescence in the majority of PAEC population

Our data indicated that there was no significant necrosis, and that apoptosis occurred only in a limited percentage of PAEC irradiated with >10 Gy. However, the clonogenic assay indicated that at 8 Gy, over 99.9% of cells were not competent to form colonies. This discrepancy suggested the possibility of accelerated senescence in PAEC following X-ray exposure. A proliferation assay showed that irradiated PAEC do not proliferate compared to non-irradiated controls (Figure 5A). PAEC exposed to 50 Gy of X-rays produced blue staining surrounding the nucleus, indicative of SA- $\beta$ -gal activity, the most widely used assay for cellular senescence (Figure 5B). Dimri et. al. (1995) first described the assay which detects SA- $\beta$ -gal activity at a suboptimal pH of 6 in senescent human cell cultures and in aging skin cells in vivo (46). SA- $\beta$ -gal has since been considered as a biomarker of senescent cells that reflects an increase in lysosomal mass during replicative aging (106). SA- $\beta$ -gal staining was observed in the majority of cells at 72 h postirradiation (control 8.2% ± 2.02, 50 Gy 75.2% ± 11.45, p<0.05) and at 120 h postirradiation (control 13.2% ± 4.21, 50 Gy 86.9% ± 5.89, p<0.05) (Figure 5B). Within 24 h postirradiation, the irradiated PAEC underwent morphological changes including increased cell size and flattened cytoplasmic appearance that are characteristic of senescent cells (Figure 5C).

Previous studies showed that radiation-induced accumulation of cells in  $G_2/M$  phase is associated with increased levels of expression of p21/waf1 (211), and that p21/waf1 accumulation is often observed in senescent cells (139). We found that irradiation of PAEC increased expression of p21/waf1 within 6 h, sustained for 48 h (Figure 5D). Recent findings indicated that loss of expression of the NAD<sup>+</sup>-dependent protein deacetylase SIRTs is also associated with cellular senescence (139). We found an almost complete loss of SIRT1 expression in PAEC within 72 h postirradiation (Figure 5E), providing further evidence of senescence in PAEC. The predicted molecular weight of Bos taurus SIRT1 is about 80 kda. In our western blot, however, we detected a single band migrating at around  $\sim 60$  kda which could be a splicing variant of the *Bos taurus* SIRT1. At the time of the dissertation, no known splicing variant has been reported in Pubmed database for Bos taurus, possibly due to lack of research on the Bos taurus SIRT1 gene, however, splicing variants for Homo sapiens and Mus musculus were recorded The *Homo sapiens* spliced variant is predicted to have a molecular weight of  $\sim$ 50 kda while that of *Mus musculus* is predicted to have a molecular weight of  $\sim$ 64 kda (Pubmed).

Senescent cells have been demonstrated to express higher levels of Bcl-2 (192), which correlates with their altered response to apoptotic signaling (139). Western blots of Bcl-2 protein showed a slight (not significant) decrease of Bcl-2 levels at ~3 h postirradiation, which later increased ~2-fold at 24 h postirradiation, correlating with the early onset of senescence (Figure 5F). These data suggest the onset of senescence by 6 h postirradiation.

#### X-rays promote ER stress leading to apoptosis in PAEC

Although DNA damage is considered a primary target of radiation, protein oxidation has recently been shown to be an important regulator of radiation-induced cell death (42). A critical increase in the level of unfolded proteins is detected by the ER, and the resulting ER stress can lead to apoptosis or accelerated senescence (132; 210). Protein unfolding can activate any of three ER-localized sensors: PERK; inositol-requiring enzyme 1 (IRE1); and activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6) (185). PERK phosphorylates  $eIF2\alpha$ , leading to the inhibition of protein synthesis to reduce traffic of newly-synthesized, unfolded polypeptides to the ER (23; 76). ATF6 increases the expression of target genes including GRP78 and XBP1. GRP78 is an ER chaperone that aids in the refolding of abnormal proteins (13). XBP1 is a transcription factor that regulates a number of ER chaperones, transcription factors, ER associated protein degradation components, and proteins involved in the secretory pathway (71). Both eIF2a and ATF6 up-regulate CHOP (24; 185). IRE1 is a Ser/Thr protein kinase and endoribonuclease that initiates unconventional splicing of XBP1 mRNA to induce its active form. In a later stage of ER stress, CHOP targets expression of the GADD34 (185).

32

We examined signal transduction pathways activated by the three primary ER stress sensors, PERK, ATF6, and IRE1. Downstream of ATF6 activation GRP78 mRNA was increased 1.8-fold ( $\pm$  0.03) at 24 h postirradiation (Figure 6A). At 24 h postirradiation we detected similar increases in gene expression for CHOP and GADD34 (1.6-fold and 2.6-fold, respectively) (Figure 6A). We next investigated eIF2 $\alpha$  phosphorylation. Increased phosphorylation of eIF2 $\alpha$  was transiently detected between 3 h and 6 h postirradiation (Figure 6B). We also observed the appearance of a lower molecular weight fragment of eIF2 $\alpha$  at the 6 h and 12 h time points. The appearance of this fragment is consistent with findings from previous studies that demonstrated that eIF2 $\alpha$  and phosphorylated eIF2 $\alpha$  can be cleaved following the activation of caspase 3 or 8 in apoptotic cells (122; 128). To detect IRE1 activation we investigated XBP1 mRNA splicing. We did not observe splicing of XBP1 at any time points from 0 to 48 h following 50 Gy X-ray exposure (Figure 6C). As a positive control, we used tunicamycin (TM) which induced XBP1 splicing at 6 h post-treatment.

We next investigated whether ER stress signaling occurs upstream of radiationinduced apoptosis and/or accelerated senescence. PAEC were treated with salubrinal, a selective inhibitor of eIF2 $\alpha$  dephosphorylation that was shown to disrupt the GADD34-PP1 phosphatase complex (22; 168). In the presence of salubrinal, radiation-induced apoptosis was reduced by ~50% (50 Gy 26.5 ± 2.45, 50 Gy/Sal 15.8 ± 2.23, p<0.05) as shown by the neutral comet assay (Figure 7A). Treatment with salubrinal also reduced the level of radiation-induced activated caspase-3 (Figure 7B). However, salubrinal did not block radiation-induced accelerated senescence (Figure 7C). Together, these results suggest that ER stress response is activated by X-irradiation in primary PAEC and mediates a portion of X-ray-induced apoptosis.

#### DISCUSSION

Clinical radiation is an important cancer therapy, but the use of this technique is limited by damage to underlying normal tissue. We investigated the effects of X-ray irradiation on primary lung endothelial cells using a combination of dose-response and time-course assays utilized to provide a comprehensive evaluation of the fate of irradiated normal lung cells. Interestingly, the loss of cell viability in PAEC appears to be independent of significant necrosis, even at very high doses of radiation. Our data instead suggest that accelerated cellular senescence is the primary response of PAEC. Our data also indicate that a limited proportion of irradiated PAEC underwent apoptosis, even after exposures as high as 50 Gy.

In order to counteract the effects of radiation on normal tissues, it is critical to understand the type of cell death induced by radiotoxicity, particularly during radiotherapy. Stress-induced cytotoxicity induces a spectrum of cell death programs that are triggered by a cascade of molecular responses. Although the mechanisms that underlie the biological selection for a specific mode of cell death remain unclear, it seems likely that the fate depends on the intensity of the stress. A recent study of chemotherapyinduced cytotoxicity of cisplatin showed that low concentrations of the drug cause mainly apoptosis while higher concentrations induce necrosis (167). Findings from another study of doxorubicin cytotoxicity revealed that low doses of the drug cause mainly a senescence-like phenotype while high doses trigger apoptosis (54). Similar to chemotherapeutic agent, radiation causes several modes of cell death (162).

34
Our study revealed that accelerated cellular senescence is the primary cellular fate of PAEC following exposure to a wide range of doses of X-ray irradiation. In a recent comprehensive review of cellular senescence the following criteria are given as markers of senescence: 1) cell cycle arrest/cell growth arrest; 2) altered gene expression of cell growth-regulatory proteins such as p21/waf-1; 3) morphologic transformations; 4) increased SA- $\beta$ -gal activity; and 5) altered response to apoptotic stimuli through altered expression of anti-apoptotic proteins (139). We demonstrated that irradiated PAEC exhibited all of these markers for cellular senescence. We also observed decreased SIRT1 expression, which is widely accepted to be involved in a signaling pathway leading to cellular senescence (139). In contrast with our findings, a recent study conducted by Stitt-Fischer et al. (174) on primary PAEC exposed to 10 Gy X-rays reported the absence of significant apoptosis or cellular senescence postirradiation. We hypothesize that the differences between the findings of our present study and those of Stitt-Fischer *et al.* are due to differences in the time courses examined as well as in some assay conditions. For example, we observed caspase-3 activation by both caspase-activity assay and western blot analysis at early time-points (6 h and 12 h postirradiation); these time points were not included in the study of Stitt-Fischer. Similarly, the occurrence of SA-β-gal phenotype was demonstrated at 72 h and 120 h postirradiation in our system but not at 24 h, which was the only time point used in the Stitt-Fischer study. In addition, the apparent decrease in SA-β-gal activity in the sham-irradiated controls relative to irradiated PAEC in the Stitt-Fischer study was not observed in our system and may be due to densityinduced false positive SA- $\beta$ -gal staining (46) and which we were able to avoid by seeding at optimized densities.

We detected limited amounts of apoptosis in PAEC in response to higher levels of radiation exposure (>10 Gy). Our data indicate that radiation activates the intrinsic as well as the extrinsic apoptotic pathways in PAEC. Although signal transduction leading from DNA damage is primarily believed to activate the intrinsic pathway (63), radiation has also been demonstrated to activate the extrinsic apoptotic pathway through the activation of p53 and Fas (52). Our laboratory recently demonstrated that bleomycin, a chemotherapeutic agent that causes ROS-induced DNA strand breaks and is sometimes utilized as a radiomimetic in signal transduction studies (171), activated the extrinsic pathway of apoptosis in PAEC by inducing the expression of tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and members of the TNF receptor family of proteins (140). We suspect that radiation-induced activation of the extrinsic apoptosis pathway may follow a similar mechanism.

A widely held belief concerning radiotoxicity is that the most critical biological effects of radiation are the result of ROS-induced DNA damage (72; 86). Recent studies have challenged this classical view by demonstrating that proteins may be initial and important targets of radiation in both prokaryotic and eukaryotic systems (42; 50). The activation of both extrinsic and intrinsic apoptotic pathways in our system suggests that DNA damage may not be the sole signal responsible for radiation-induced apoptosis in normal lung cells. Our data provide evidence that X-rays activate two ER stress pathways in primary lung cells. Although the initial ER stress response is transient and cytoprotective (23; 76), prolonged activation of the ER stress pathway causes cell death (2; 23). Our results indicate that the eIF2 $\alpha$ -dependent arm of ER stress is upstream of a significant proportion of X-ray-induced apoptosis, but not X-ray-induced accelerated senescence.

Endothelial cell damage is an early event following clinical radiation that induces vascular leakage (35; 69; 172; 207). It is believed that vascular leakage allowing increased inflammatory processes is a key event preceding pneumonitis and the development of fibrotic remodeling (102; 109). Several stages of vascular leak have been observed in animal models of thoracic radiation injury. Early increases in capillary permeability (minutes to several hours after radiation exposure) are believed to be caused by the activation of proteolytic enzymes (92). A later increase in vascular permeability (days after radiation exposure) cannot be inhibited by protease inhibitors, and are believed to be due to another mechanism (109; 138). While some of the early changes in vascular permeability are likely related to the effects of radiation on the endothelial cytoskeleton (95; 207), it is possible that the delayed effects are also due to cellular survival. A delayed increase in vascular permeability was demonstrated starting at 7 days post-irradiation of mouse right hemithorax (109) which correlates with increased apoptosis and cellular senescence detected in our lung radiation model of pulmonary fibrosis (maximal at 7 days post-irradiation). Increased understanding of the mechanisms leading to radiation-induced lung cell death or senescence may be of use for mitigating IR-induced damage to normal lung tissue during the treatment of thoracic malignancies or accidental irradiation.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Dr. Michal Barshishat-Kupper for help with the development of experimental procedures and Dr. Andrew Snow for critical reading and comments of this manuscript. We also thank Elizabeth A. McCart for expertise in animal experiments and the

development of animal irradiation protocols and Mr. Michael Woolbert for help with the X-ray machine. This work was supported by a Uniformed University of the Health Sciences (USUHS) research grant and Defense Threat Reduction Agency (DTRA) grant H.10025\_07\_R to RMD; and by a predoctoral grant from USUHS to RAMP. Some of the authors are employees of the U.S. Government, and this manuscript was prepared as part of their official duties. Title 17 U.S.C. §105 provides that 'Copyright protection under this title is not available for any work of the United States Government.' Title 17 U.S.C §101 defined a U.S. Government as part of that person's official duties. The views in this article are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views, official policy, or position of the Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, Department of the Navy, Department of Defense, or the U.S. Federal Government.

#### **Declaration of interests:**

The authors have no conflicts of interests to report.

# LIST OF FIGURES



Panganiban et al 2012, IJRB, Figure 1



Panganiban et al 2012, IJRB, Figure 2



Panganiban et al 2012, IJRB, Figure 3



Panganiban et al 2012, IJRB, Figure 4



Panganiban et al 2012, IJRB, Figure 5



Panganiban et al 2012, IJRB, Figure 6



Panganiban et al 2012, IJRB, Figure 7

#### **Figure Legends**

Figure 1. *Clonogenic assay of irradiated PAEC*. PAEC were sham irradiated (0) or X-ray irradiated at the indicated doses for clonogenic assays. Graph indicates mean  $\pm$  SEM, number of samples (n) = 4.

Figure 2. *X-rays do not induce necrosis on PAEC*. PAEC were either sham irradiated or X-ray irradiated at the indicated doses. Following incubation at indicated times postirradiation, the level of necrosis was detected by measuring LDH released into the medium. Cell death is expressed as the percentage of the LDH measured in the medium divided by the total LDH release after treatment with 1% Triton X-100. Bars indicate mean  $\pm$  SD with n = 3. \* indicates statistical significance from control, p < 0.05.

**Figure 3.** *X-rays induce caspase-3-dependent apoptosis in PAEC*. PAEC were either sham irradiated or irradiated with X-rays at indicated doses. A. Neutral comet assays were performed at 24 h and 48 h postirradiation. Bleomycin (bleo, 5 mU/ml) was used as positive control. B. Caspase-3 activity assay using Caspase-Glo® 3 substrate at the indicated time points. Graph indicates means  $\pm$  SD, n = 4. \* indicates statistical significance from control, p < 0.05. C. Equal protein amounts of whole cell lysates were immunoblotted for the cleaved form of caspase-3.  $\beta$ -actin was used as loading control. Representative results are shown. D. Caspase-3 inhibitor ZDVED (15  $\mu$ M, in DMSO) was added to PAEC 1 h prior to X-ray exposure; a DMSO treated control was included. Neutral comet assays were performed 24 h postirradiation. Graph indicates means  $\pm$  SD, n = 3. \* indicates statistical significance from control, p < 0.05. All experiments were repeated at least 3 times; representative data are shown.

Figure 4. *X-rays activate the extrinsic and intrinsic apoptotic pathways in PAEC*. PAEC were either sham irradiated or irradiated with 50 Gy X-rays. Cell lysates were prepared at indicated times postirradiation. Caspase-8 (A) and -9 (B) enzymatic activity assays were performed using Caspase-Glo® 8 and 9 substrate, respectively. Graph represents means  $\pm$  SD, n = 4. \* indicates statistical significance from control, p < 0.05.

**Figure 5.** *X-rays induce accelerated senescence in PAEC.* PAEC were either sham irradiated (control) or irradiated with 50 Gy X-rays under identical conditions. A, Cell proliferation assay. PAEC were seeded at  $2 \times 10^5$ , cultured for 24 h prior to irradiation. Cells were counted at indicated time points using a haemocytometer. Graphs indicate means  $\pm$  SD, n=3. \* indicates statistical significance from control, p < 0.05. B. SA-β-gal activity assay was performed at 24, 72 and 120 h postirradiation. All cells were counted in 3 random fields (at least 100 cells). The graph indicates means  $\pm$  SD, n = 9. \* indicates statistical significance from control, p < 0.4, n = 9. \* indicates statistical significance from control, p = 0.4, n = 9. \* indicates statistical significance from control, p < 0.05. C. Representative SA-β gal activity assay (blue staining) at 120 h postirradiation. D-F. Equal protein amounts of whole cell lysates were immunoblotted for p21/waf1 (D), Sirt1 (E), or Bcl-2 (F) at the indicated times postirradiation. Blots were stripped and probed for β-actin as a loading control. Representative western blots are shown.

Figure 6. *X-rays promote ER stress in PAEC* PAEC were either sham-irradiated (control) or irradiated with 50 Gy X-rays. A. qPCR was performed to determine the levels of GRP78, CHOP, and GADD34 mRNA 24 h postirradiation. The mRNA levels were normalized to GAPDH. Bars indicate mean  $\pm$  SD, n=3. \* indicates statistical significance from control, p < 0.05. B. Whole cell lysates were prepared at indicated time points and the phosphorylation status of eIF2 $\alpha$  was detected by western blot analysis. C. Total cellular mRNA was prepared and used for RT-PCR to detect XBP1 splicing. Cells were either control (non-irradiated) or exposed to 50 Gy irradiation for the indicated time points postirradiation. Tunicamycin (TM, 10 µ/ml) was used as a positive control. PCR reactions were run on one agarose gel, and intervening lanes were removed for publication. Experiments were repeated at least 3 times; representative results are shown.

Figure 7. Salubrinal treatment blocks IR-induced apoptosis but not accelerated senescence. PAEC were either untreated or treated with 22.5  $\mu$ M salubrinal or DMSO (vehicle) for 1 h, prior to sham irradiation (control) or exposure to 50 Gy X-rays. A. Neutral comet assay was performed 24 h postirradiation. Bars indicate means  $\pm$  SD, n = 4. \* indicates statistical significance from control, p < 0.05. † indicates statistical significance from control, p < 0.05. † indicates statistical significance from radiation + DMSO, p < 0.05. B. Representative immunoblot analysis of active caspase-3 and p21/waf1 in the presence of salubrinal. C. SA- $\beta$ -gal assay was performed 72 h postirradiation. Bars indicate means  $\pm$  SD, n = 3. \* indicates statistical significance from control, p < 0.05. Experiments were repeated at least 3 times; representative data are shown.

### CHAPTER 3: Inhibition of IGF-1R Prevents Ionizing Radiation-Induced Primary Endothelial Cell Senescence

Ronald Allan M. Panganiban and Regina M. Day\*

Department of Pharmacology, Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences Bethesda, MD 20814, USA

\*To whom correspondences should be sent:

Regina M. Day, Ph.D. Department of Pharmacology Bldg C Rm 20234301 Jones Bridge Rd. Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences Bethesda, MD 20814-4799, USA 301-295-3236 301-295-3220 fax regina.day@usuhs.edu

Running title: Mechanisms of Radiation-induced Death in Lung Cells

Key words: X-ray, gamma radiation, apoptosis, senescence, IGF-1R, primary lung cells

#### ABSTRACT

Accelerated senescence has been shown to occur as a primary response to cellular stresses including DNA damaging agents (e.g., ionizing radiation) and is widely believed to be caused by continuous proliferative signaling in the presence of cell cycle arrest. Studies on signal transduction pathways leading to accelerated senescence have revealed that inhibition of mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) by rapamycin rescues cells from senescence; however, the molecular mechanisms upstream of mTOR following ionizing radiation (IR) are not well defined. Here, we investigated signal transduction leading to IR-induced accelerated senescence in cultured human pulmonary artery endothelial cells (HPAEC). Exposure of HPAEC to X-rays (10 Gy, 2.4 Gy/min) upregulated senescence markers including p53, p21/waf1, and senescence associated beta galactosidase (SA-β-gal). Treatment with Ly294002 (a phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase [PI3K] inhibitor) or rapamycin (an mTOR inhibitor) blocked the increase in cellular senescence markers suggesting roles for PI3K and mTOR. Pathway directed microarrays revealed increased expression of insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-1), a known modulator of cell growth and proliferation upstream of mTOR. qRT-PCR was used to determine that both IGF-1 and IGF-2 mRNA were increased in response to X-rays and ELISA showed increased secretion of IGF-1 protein into the medium of irradiated HPAEC. Consistent with upregulation of these ligands, we found that X-ray exposure led to hyperphosphorylation of the IGF-1 and -2 receptor, IGF-1R. Treatment with AG1024, an IGF-1R inhibitor, suppressed IR-induced upregulation of p53, p21/waf1, and SA-β-gal. Together these findings suggest that IGF-1R is a key regulatory pathway in IR-induced accelerated senescence in a pathway that requires intact mTOR activity upstream of both p53 and p21/waf1.

#### INTRODUCTION

Accelerated senescence is a well-recognized cellular response to environmental stresses that damage biological molecules especially DNA. It is characterized by loss of replicative capacity, abnormal gene expression of cell cycle regulators, altered responsiveness to apoptotic stimuli, alterations in cellular morphology, induction of senescence associated secretory proteins, and increased senescence-associated beta-galactosidase (SA- $\beta$ -gal) activity (139). Accumulating body of evidence implicates a role for cellular senescence in aging, suppression of tumorigenesis, and overall tissue and organ dysfunction possibly through depletion of functional cells required for organ homeostasis and though induction of inflammation associated with the secretory phenotype (26; 90; 139).

Recent studies suggest that accelerated senescence occurs as the result of proliferative signaling in the presence of a cell cycle checkpoint blockade, often p21/waf1 (17; 43). The mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), a cytoplasmic kinase that is widely regarded as a central integration point for a number of cell signaling pathways including cell proliferation and homeostasis (108), has been identified as a central molecular target for the inhibition of replicative senescence as well as stress-induced cellular senescence (6; 17; 18; 43). Treatment with rapamycin, an mTOR inhibitor, prevents accelerated senescence in cells exposed to DNA-damaging agents (43; 114). Similarly, paradoxically, both mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK) p42/p44 and phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PI3K)/Akt signaling pathways which play roles in cell

survival and proliferation have also been shown to positively regulate the development of senescence (20; 136; 144). Akt deficiency causes resistance to replicative- and stress-induced premature senescence while its activation induces premature senescence via increased production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (144). On the other hand, MAPK p42/p44 mediates thrombopoeitin-induced senescence during megarkaryocitic maturation (15). Both signaling pathways appear to require increased expression of the cell cycle checkpoint protein p21/waf1 for the induction of cellular senescence (8; 15).

Investigation into receptor signaling pathways that contribute to aging-associated cellular senescence has revealed the possible involvement of the insulin like growth factor-1 receptor (IGF-1R) (81; 118). IGF-1R is a single transmembrane tyrosine kinase receptor whose ligands include IGF-1 and IGF-2 (189). The activation of IGF-1R involves autophosphorylation of its intracellular domain, followed by recruitment of docking intermediates including the insulin-receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1), which in many cell types leads to activation of PI3K/Akt, MAPK, and mTOR (116; 117; 146; 158). As a growth factor receptor, IGF-1R is known to play a role in cell growth and proliferation under normal conditions and is widely expressed in most transformed cells, conferring pro-survival properties upon stress application (47; 48; 146; 197). In agreement with the hypothesis that IGF-1R acts as a mediator of cell survival and proliferation, a number of studies showed a positive correlation between activation of IGF-1R and radiation resistance in some cells (37; 58; 154; 187). However, most of these studies were focused only on the contribution of apoptosis and it is likely that IGF-1R operates on other modes of radiation-induced cellular response depending on the cellular context. Moreover, the anti-apoptotic activity of IGF-1R appears to be dispensable in the induction of radiation

resistance in a variety of tumor cells suggesting the possibility of an unidentified mechanism (180). Although the IGF-1,-2/IGF-1R signaling axis is known to promote cell proliferation and survival under most circumstances, IGF-1R was recently implicated in several models of senescence. IGF-1R expression levels increased during the development of *in vitro* replicative senescence in primary cortical neurons (38). UVB-induced premature senescence was found to require functional IGF-1R in human keratinocytes (118). IGF-1 also enhanced senescence in primary cell cultures via a mechanism that involved increased reactive ROS generation leading to induction of the p53/p21 pathway (75). In mouse embryonic fibroblasts, treatment with IGF-1 inhibited the DNA deacetylase activity of Sirtuin 1 (SIRT1) and promoted stability of p53, ultimately leading to induction of senescence (183).

In our previous studies, we determined that accelerated senescence is the primary response of normal PAEC to X-ray exposure (149). We now provide evidence for the involvement of IGF-1R in the development of IR-induced accelerated senescent phenotype in primary lung endothelial cells. Our results suggest that IGF-1R signaling is required for X-ray-induced accelerated senescence in endothelial cells.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

*Cell Culture and Reagents.* Human pulmonary artery endothelial cells (HPAEC) were obtained from Cell Applications, Inc. (San Diego, CA) and cultured in EBM-2 basal medium containing supplements and growth factors as indicated in the manufacturer's protocol (Lonza, Walkersville, MD). Cells were maintained at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere containing 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Subconfluent HPAEC at passages 4-8 were used for all experiments. The following chemical inhibitors and their final concentrations were used:

AG1024 (5  $\mu$ M, Calbiochem, EMD Millipore, Billerica, MA), Ly294002 (20  $\mu$ M, Calbiochem), rapamycin (500 nM, Calbiochem), U0126 (10  $\mu$ M, Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA). Each inhibitor was dissolved in DMSO and added to cell cultures so that the final concentration of the solvent did not exceed 0.1%. N-acetyl cysteine (NAC, 20mM) Calbiochem) was dissolved in distilled H<sub>2</sub>0.

*Cell Irradiation:* HPAEC were either irradiated or sham-irradiated at subconfluence (70-90%). Irradiations were conducted using RS2000 Biological Irradiator (Rad Source Technologies, Alpharetta, GA) with 0.3 mm Cu shielding at a dose rate of 2.4 Gy/min (160kV, 25mA) at room temperature.

*Western blotting*. Whole cell extracts were prepared in RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris HCl pH 8, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.5% sodium deoxycholate, and 0.1% SDS) supplemented with protease inhibitors (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Montana), 1mM PMSF, 2 mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub> and/or Halt phosphatase inhibitors (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL) or SDS-laemmli buffer (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA) containing 50 mM DTT. Samples were vortexed, incubated for 10 min at 4°C, and subjected to sonication (Heat Systems-Ultrasonics Inc., Plainview, NY) for 5 sec at 4°C. Samples were then centrifuged at 14,000 x g for 10 min and supernatant was collected.

Protein concentrations from whole cell lysates were determined using Protein® BCA Protein Assay Kit (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL). Equal amounts of proteins were separated in SDS-PAGE and transferred to PVDF membranes (Thermo Scientific, Rockford, IL). For western blotting, the following antibodies were used: anti-phosphoIGF1R, total IGF-1R $\alpha$ , anti-p53, anti-p21/waf1, and anti- $\beta$ -actin (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc., Santa Cruz, CA); anti-total IGF-1R $\beta$  anti-phospho-S6, anti-phospho-Akt and total Akt (Cell Signaling Technology, Danvers, MA). Proteins were detected with horseradish peroxidase-linked secondary antibodies and *SuperSignal* West Pico Chemiluminescent Substrate (Pierce, Rockford, IL).

Quantitative real-time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (qPCR). Total RNA was isolated from cultured cells using the RNeasy Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). RNA was quantified spectroscopically (ND-1000 Spectrophotometer, NanoDrop, Wilmington, DE). RNA (400 ng) was subjected to reverse transcription in a total volume of 20 µl. Following dilution 5-fold with water, 2 µl of cDNA was used for 20 µl qPCR reaction. PCR was performed in duplicates using 6 µM of each primer and 10 µl of SybrGreen® PCR master mix (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). The following primers were used for detection of IGF-1: forward 5'- TGC CCA AGA CCC AGA AGT -3' and reverse 5'- CTC CTG TCC CCT CCT TCT GTT - 3' and IGF-2: forward 5'-ACA CCC TCC AGT TCG TCT GT- 3'and 5'- and GAAACAGCACTCCTCAACGA-3'. As an internal control, mRNA levels of GAPDH were determined using primers: forward 5'-GAA GCT CGT CAT CAA TGG AAA-3' and reverse 5'-CCA CTT GAT GTT GGC AGG AT-3'. For quantification, the comparative threshold cycle (Ct) method was used to assess relative changes in mRNA levels between the untreated (control) and the irradiated samples.

Senescence-associated  $\beta$ -galactosidase (SA- $\beta$ -gal) Assav. SA- $\beta$ -gal assay was performed according to established protocols with minor modifications (10; 46). To avoid densitydependent false positive expression of SA-β-gal, HPAEC were seeded at a density of 1.0-2.0 x 10<sup>4</sup> on 12-well or 6-well dishes and allowed to reach 50-70% confluence prior to treatment. At indicated time-points postirradiation, cells were washed twice in ice cold PBS, fixed in 2% formaldehyde/ 0.2% glutaraldehyde in PBS for 5 min at room temperature and washed again twice in ice-cold PBS. 1.5-2 ml of freshly prepared X-gal staining solution (1 mg/ml of 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl β-D-galactoside in 40 mM citric acid/sodium phosphate, pH 6.0 (made by mixing 36.85 parts 0.1 M citric acid solution with 63.15 parts 0.2 M sodium phosphate solution and then verifying pH to be 6.0, 0.1M citric acid was added to adjust pH when necessary), 5 mM potassium ferrocyanide, 5 mM potassium ferricyanide, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>) was then added to the culture dishes and the dishes were incubated for 12-20 h at 37°C (without CO<sub>2</sub>). After incubation, cells were washed twice in ice-cold PBS and once in methanol and allowed to dry. Cells were examined for perinuclear blue staining indicative of SA-βgal activity in at least 3 randomly selected fields.

*Statistics*. Means  $\pm$  standard deviations (SD) or error of the mean (SEM) were calculated, and statistically significant differences between two groups were determined by the Student's *t* test. p <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

**HPAEC undergo accelerated senescence post-irradiation.** We previously determined in bovine PAEC that accelerated senescence is the primary cellular response to exposure

to 10 Gy X-rays with very limited apoptosis and no detectable necrosis (149). Two salient features of senescence were identified in X-ray-induced senescence in bovine PAEC – upregulation of p21/waf1 and increased SA- $\beta$ -gal activity. p21/waf1, also known as cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor 1, is a cell cycle checkpoint protein and contributes to cell cycle arrest, a necessary component of cellular senescence. SA-β-gal is a widely used marker for cellular senescence that was first described by Dimri et al. (46) and has routinely been used over the years to detect senescent cells in vitro and in vivo (61). We investigated the X-ray effects on the development of senescent phenotype in human PAEC (HPAEC). Our data indicated that HPAEC underwent cellular senescence upon exposure to 10 Gy X-rays as determined by upregulation of p21/waf1 within 3h post-irradiation. Increased SA-β-gal activity, detected cytochemically as blue perinuclear staining, was detected optimally at 4 days post-irradiation (Figure 1B). X-ray-exposed HPAEC also exhibited changes in cell morphology, displaying unusually large cell size and flattened cytoplasmic appearance compared to sham-irradiated controls (Figure 1B). This was consistent with our findings using bovine derived PAEC (149).

X-rays activate the IGF-1R signaling cascade. Exposure to X-rays causes alterations in global gene expression. As we had previously determined that the primary response causing loss of cell viability in pulmonary artery endothelial cells is accelerated senescence, we used a pathway-focused senescence array to examine mRNA changes over time after 10 Gy exposure in HPAEC. Among the genes observed to be altered in expression, IGF-1 mRNA level was increased ~2 fold within 24 hours post-irradiation and ~ 15 fold within 72 hours post-irradiation (data not shown). The IGF-1 mRNA results were confirmed using qRT-PCR (~2 fold at 24 hours post-irradiation and ~6 fold

at 72 hours post-irradiation, p<0.05, Figure 2A). Similarly, IGF-2 mRNA was increased (~ 1.7 fold at 24 hours post-irradiation and ~1.5 fold at 72 hours post-irradiation, Figure 2B). IGF-1 can act in paracrine and/or autocrine manner (33) and in cultured cells it is secreted in the medium once produced (1; 97). ELISA assays indicated that IGF-1 was increased in the medium 72 hour post-irradiation (~3.2 fold, p<0.05, Figure 2C). These increases in the secretion of IGF-1 and in the gene expressions of both IGF-1 and IGF-2, two known activating ligands of IGF-1R, led us to examine the activation of its receptor IGF-1R. We detected increase in IGF-1R phosphorylation which is essential for kinase activation (12; 120). As shown in Figure 2D, IGF-1R hyperphosphorylation (left panel) was detected within 3 hours post-irradiation along with Akt hyperphosphorylation at Ser 473, which is required for full activation of IGF-1R and Akt occurred concurrently with p21/waf1 upregulation.

**AG1024 blocks radiation-induced accelerated senescence.** As X-rays induced IGF-1R phosphorylation, IGF-1 and IGF-2 upregulation as well as accelerated senescence in HPAEC, we hypothesized that IGF-1R activation may function in the development of accelerated senescence post-irradiation. To test this hypothesis, we exposed HPAEC to 10 Gy X-rays in the presence of AG1024 (an IGF-1R inhibitor) and examined cellular senescence. Blocking IGF-1R activation significantly reduced cellular senescence as shown by western blotting for p53 and p21/waf1, and by SA- $\beta$ -gal activity assay (Figure 3C and 3B). Treatment with AG1024 also rescued the irradiated HPAEC from undergoing senescence-associated morphological changes that were notable in DMSO-treated irradiated HPAEC (Figure 3A).

Inhibition of mTOR and PI3K, but not p42/p44 MAPK, blocks radiation-induced accelerated senescence. Recent studies demonstrated that mTOR is required for stressinduced senescence. Treatment with rapamycin prevented the increase in SA- $\beta$ -gal activity in cells exposed to DNA-damaging agents (43; 113; 115) and protected mice from radiation-induced mucositis (88). We tested whether inhibition of mTOR would result in attenuation of IR-induced accelerated senescence. As shown in Figure 4, inhibition of mTOR activity using 500 nM rapamycin blocked IR-induced cellular senescence in a similar manner conferred by AG1024 on irradiated HPAEC. Activation of IGF-1R was demonstrated to cause activation of a signaling cascade via the PI3K/Akt and MAPK pathways which can converge at mTOR activation (29; 166) (160). We therefore tested whether blocking PI3K/AKT using Ly294002 or MAPK using U0126 would result in reduction of cellular senescence in a manner similar to that conferred by IGF-1R inhibition. As shown in Figure 4, inhibition of PI3K using Ly294002 also attenuated radiation-induced cellular senescence. On the other hand, treatment with U0126, a MAPK inhibitor, did not rescue cells from undergoing accelerated senescence even though early time-point increase in p42/44 MAPK was observed (data not shown).

To determine whether IGF-1R is upstream of mTOR, we examined the phosphorylation of S6 ribosomal protein at Ser 235/236, a known target of S6 kinase which is downstream of activated mTOR (56). We also examined phosphor.-Akt with the treatment of AG1024 to determine whether IGF-1R is upstream of Akt in irradiated PAEC. AG1024 treatment blocked decreased levels of phosho-S6 significantly.

59

However, we were unable to detect significant inhibition of phosphorylated Akt (Figure 5).

Radiation-induced reactive oxygen species are required for early IGF-1R phosphorylation. Our results indicated that within 3 hours, we were not able to detect a significant increase in the secretion of IGF-1 per cell. However, our experiments indicated that IGF-1R phosphorylation could be detected at time points that preceded the increased production of ligands. We therefore investigated alternative mechanism of early IGF-1R activation. Exposure to IR is known to cause accumulation of ROS via radiolysis of intracellular H<sub>2</sub>O and through subsequent production of ROS inside irradiated cells (72; 110). ROS have also been shown to cause phosphorylation of cellular receptors, including IGF-1R in vascular smooth muscle cells (19; 195). To determine whether ROS alone would be sufficient for the induction of IGF-1R phosphorylation, we treated HPAEC with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (1 µM and 10 µM) for 20 minutes. As shown in Figure 6, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> alone was sufficient to induce IGF-1R phosphorylation. We then determined whether this ROS-induced phosphorylation is ligand-dependent by treating the cells with  $H_2O_2$  in the presence of AG1024 and blotting for phospho-IGF-1R. As shown in Figure 6, ROS-induced IGF-1R phosphorylation was not inhibited by AG1024. Finally, to determine whether IR-induced IGF-1R phosphorylation is mediated by ROS, we treated HPAEC with 20 mM N-acetyl-L-cysteine (NAC) for 1 hour and exposed the cells to 10 Gy X-rays. Western blotting shows that IGF-1R phosphorylation was attenuated in the presence of NAC.

Treatment with AG1024 or increasing the concentration of IGF-1 has no effect on radiation-induced caspase-3 activation. A number of studies have shown that

60

bypassing or blocking cellular senescence sensitizes cells to apoptosis following cellular stress (49; 156). In order to determine whether IGF-1R may play a role in this dynamics, we treated HPAEC with AG1024 (IGF-1R inhibitor) and exogenous IGF-1 (IGF-1R activator) and then exposed to X-rays. For this purpose, we used 50 Gy X-rays as we previously determined that this dose was effective in detecting caspase-3 activation in bovine PAEC (149). As shown in Figure 6, treatment with either AG1024 or exogenous IGF-1 did not alter the levels of active caspase-3 suggesting that IGF-1R does not regulate radiation-induced apoptosis.

#### DISCUSSION

Exposure to various stresses, especially to DNA damaging agents, triggers complex cellular responses that result in either cell survival or cell death. It is thought that if damage is resolved, cells survive to continue to divide and proliferate. Irreparable damage, on the other hand, is generally considered a trigger for cell death via necrosis, apoptosis, or both (64). However, in most cases, cellular stresses may also give rise to accelerated senescence, a form of irreversible cell cycle arrest with complex phenotype that includes extensive morphological alterations, secretion of senescence-associated proteins, and development of  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity (139). We previously demonstrated that accelerated senescence is the primary mode of radiation-induced loss of cell viability in non-immortalized, non-cancer endothelial cells (149). In the current study, we demonstrate in primary PAEC that IGF-1R is activated in response to irradiation, initially via radiation-induced ROS generation and later in response to autocrine production of IGF-1 and IGF-2. We provide evidence that IGF-1R suppresses downstream activation of p53

and p21/waf1. Cells treated with IGF-1R inhibitor maintain normal morphology and do not express SA- $\beta$ -gal. This is the first demonstration of the requirement of IGF-1R for accelerated senescence by ionizing radiation.

An accumulating body of evidence suggests that cellular senescence is a state of continuous cell growth activity in the presence of cell cycle blockade (17). In support of this idea, mTOR has recently been suggested as the critical effector of the continuous cell growth response component of cellular senescence. Consistent with recent findings on the effects of blocking mTOR activity on the development of cellular senescence, our results suggest that radiation-induced cellular senescence involves mTOR as shown by attenuation of SA- $\beta$ -gal activity in the presence of rapamycin. Interestingly, we also find that inhibition of mTOR results in attenuation of radiation-induced p21/waf1 upregulation suggesting that mTOR is possibly upstream of p21/waf1 and thus, may contribute to cell cycle arrest as well. Indeed, a number of studies have demonstrated crosstalk between p53/p21/waf1 and mTOR pathways via regulations of MDM2 and SIRT1, which both modulate p53 accumulation (100; 111; 184).

Our current findings in HPAEC indicate that IGF-1R activation does not inhibit radiation-induced apoptosis. Paradoxically, a number of studies have demonstrated positive effects of activated IGF-1R and IGF-1 in conferring radiation resistance, mostly through prevention of apoptosis in cancer cells. For example, increased IGF-1R phosphorylation after  $\gamma$ -irradiation was demonstrated even in the absence of detectable IGF-1 or IGF-2 ligands, triggering anti-apoptotic activity in non-small cell lung cancer cell line (37). The presence of IGF-1 conferred radioprotection from apoptosis in hematopoietic progenitor cells (58) and in crypt and intestinal stem cells (154). Elevated levels of IGF-1R were also found to induce radiation resistance in fibroblasts and were highly correlated with local breast cancer recurrence after radiotherapy (187). However, these studies investigated only the correlation of activated IGF-1R with resistance to radiation-induced apoptosis. Surprisingly, the anti-apoptotic activity of IGF-1R appears to be dispensable for the induction of radiation resistance, suggesting that the underlying mechanism(s) remain unresolved (180). Indeed, most previous studies did not investigate cellular senescence which could have been misinterpreted as a mechanism of radiation resistance in cell culture, since stress-induced premature senescent cells can remain metabolically active for months (208). Our finding of the requirement of IGF-1R for radiation-induced accelerated senescence is consistent with the findings of a previous study on the requirement of functional IGF-1R for the initiation of UVB-induced premature senescence in human keratinocytes (118). Furthermore, IGF-1R does not appear to modulate radiation-induced apoptosis as AG1024 did not increase caspase-3 activation yet still prevented p21/waf1 increase in 50 Gy induction of apoptosis in HPAEC.

X-rays can kill cells primarily through the radiolysis of intracellular H<sub>2</sub>O which generates reactive oxygen species that cause macromolecular damage (72). ROS can induce post-translational modifications in cellular receptors including IGF-1R (195) possibly by phosphatase inhibition (157) and it has also been shown that subsequent reactions and signaling cascades within the irradiated cells cause further ROS accumulation (Leach, Van Tuyle et al. 2001. Our results indicate that ROS, primarily through H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, mediate IGF-1R activation as shown by increased IGF-1R phosphorylation following exposure to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> which was not inhibited by AG1024 treatment. This ROS-induced increase in IGF-1R phosphorylation is possibly due to inactivation of protein-tyrosine phosphatases that dephosphorylate IGF-1R in the same manner of ROS-mediated inactivation of protein-tyrosine phosphatases in other systems (11; 112; 181). This suggests that ROS generated by X-rays may be sufficient for the downstream signaling induced by X-rays in HPAEC. This is further supported by our data showing that antioxidants can relieve the phosphorylation of IGF-1R post-irradiation and implies the contribution of a ligand-independent mechanism. Our findings also indicate that ligand-dependent mechanism contributes to IGF-1R-mediated IR-induced senescence as revealed by the increase in both IGF-1 mRNA and secreted protein per cell and by attenuation of IR-induced p21/waf1 upregulation and SA-β-gal acivity. The continuous increase in IGF-1 levels along with an upregulation of IGF-2 over time may contribute to a vicious cycle of autocrine and paracrine signaling in the presence of the cell cycle inhibitor p21/waf1 which ultimately leads to the development of the complex senescent phenotype. It has been demonstrated the radiation can cause increase in production and secretion of IGF-I at a later time-point post-irradiation (40). Our data shows that IGF-I level in the medium normalized to the number of cells is increased in irradiated cells relative to non-irradiated controls at 72 hours post-irradiation. This appears not to be a direct physical effect of radiation since the timing occurs at a later time-point (72 hours post-irradiation). However, whether radiation causes release of IGF-1 from IGF-1 binding proteins (IGFBPs) allowing IGF-1 to bind to IGF-1R was not examined in this study. At least one IGF-1 binding protein, IGFBP-6, was shown to delay senescence and when downregulated, can lead to premature entry into senescent state (130).

Our findings also show that radiation-induced IGF-1R-mediated accelerated senescence requires the presence of intact mTOR. How does IGF-1R act through mTOR then? Two alternative pathways most commonly activated by IGF-1R are the PI3K/Akt and MAPK pathways. Both pathways are activated post-irradiation in HPAEC; however, only the inhibition of PI3K/Akt attenuates accelerated senescence suggesting that IGF-1R links mTOR via this pathway. Although PI3K/Akt is known to regulate cell proliferation and may act upstream of mTOR, it has been reported in several studies to be capable of causing senescence as well (8; 136; 148). Thus, collectively, our findings recapitulate the seemingly paradoxic idea that senescence is a state of continuous cell growth and proliferative signaling in the presence of a cell cycle blockade. The increase in cell size suggests the continuous cell growth and proliferative signaling while the absence of increase in cell number reflects the presence of cell cycle inhibitors. Interestingly, however, our results also suggest that the IGF-1R/PI3K/mTOR pathway may mediate the development of senescence by modulating the cell cycle arrest component as well.

We observed that blocking IGF-1R using AG1024 leads to an unexpected increase in the phosphorylation of Akt at Ser473 in both sham-irradiated and irradiated PAEC. This suggests that PI3k/Akt acts through a parallel mechanism that is not necessarily part of the IGF-1R pathway. PI3k/Akt has been shown to positively regulate cellular senescence (144). Another possible explanation of the apparent increase in Akt phosphorylation with AG1024 treatment is the inhibition of a negative feedback loop that modulates Akt phosphorylation. S6K, which is a downstream target of mTOR, has been shown to block further activation of Akt through inhibition of insulin receptor substrate 1 (IRS-1) (85; 126). IRS-1 is an immediate downstream target of IGF-1R and is critical for the propagation of IGF-1R signaling (85). Since S6K appears to be downregulated as suggested by the decrease in the phosphorylation of its substrate, S6, the negative feedback loop on IRS-1 was possibly relieved which then caused the apparent increase in Akt phosphorylation. To further investigate this possible scenario, phosphorylation of IRS-1 may be assessed over time post-irradiation in the presence of AG1024 as well as the effect of inhibition of IRS-1 in IR-induced accelerated senescence.

Unlike apoptosis and necrosis, the importance of accelerated senescence in radiation-induced damage has just recently been increasingly recognized with the discovery that mTOR mediates radiation-induced cellular senescence during exposure to radiation in vivo (88). Yet, the mechanisms of radiation-induced cellular senescence remain incompletely understood. Although senescent cells are metabolically active, they are considered to be non-viable as they are incapable of replicating, and experiments have demonstrated that they eventually die through programmed cell death (68; 73). Additionally, and of clinical importance, radiation-induced cellular senescence may deplete the pool of proliferative cells which can contribute to the adverse effects of radiation therapy (37). Here, we have provided evidence that the IGF-1R intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity and signaling contribute to radiation-induced cellular senescence that can be blocked by pharmacological inhibitors. The identification of specific pathways and mechanisms for radiation-induced cellular senescence could provide novel targets for the prevention of severe effects of ionizing radiation during thoracic radiation therapy or from accidental radiation exposures.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

We thank Mr. Michael Woolbert for help with the X-ray irradiator, and thanks to Dr. Ognoon Mungunsukh for help with development of qRT-PCR experiments. This work was supported by a Uniformed University of the Health Sciences (USUHS) research grant and by a predoctoral grant from USUHS to RAMP. Some of the authors are employees of the U.S. Government, and this manuscript was prepared as part of their official duties. Title 17 U.S.C. §105 provides that 'Copyright protection under this title is not available for any work of the United States Government.' Title 17 U.S.C §101 defined a U.S. Government work as a work prepared by a military service member or employees of the U.S. Government as part of that person's official duties. The views in this article are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views, official policy, or position of the Uniformed Services University of the Health Sciences, Department of the Navy, Department of Defense, or the U.S. Federal Government.

## LIST OF FIGURES





Figure 2



А

70

+

+

AG1024
## Figure 3



Control + DMSO



Control + Ly294002



Control + Rapamycin



10 Gy + DMSO



10 Gy + Ly294002



10 Gy + Rapamycin



С

p21 actin	_	_	-	-	=	-	-	-
X-rays (10 Gy)	-	-	-	æ.	+	+	+	+
DMSO	+	-	-	-	+	-	-	-
Ag1024	-	+	-	-	-	+	=	$\sim$
Ly294002	÷	-	+	-	-	-	+	-
Rapamycin	$\overline{a}$	-	-	+	<del></del>	$\overline{\mathcal{T}}_{\mathcal{T}}$	-	+

Figure 4



В







Figure 5





Figure 6



Figure 7

+

┿

**Figure 1. X-rays induce accelerated senescence in HPAEC.** Subconfluent HPAEC were exposed to indicated doses of X-rays and then incubated until time of assay. (A) Dose-response effect of increasing X-ray doses in HPAEC. At 4 days post-irradation, irradiated and sham-irradiated HPAEC were assayed for SA-β-gal activity. Percentage of SA-β-gal positive cells was counted in at least 3 random fields. Graph represents means ± SEM, n = 3. \* indicates statistical significance from controls, p<0.05. (B) SA-β-gal staining sham-irradiated and irradiated (10 Gy) (C) Time-course of p21/waf1 upregulation. Western blotting for p21/waf1 expression at indicated time-points post-irradiation.

**Figure 2. Induction of IGF-1R signaling in irradiated HPAEC.** (A and B) IGF-1 and IGF-2 mRNA levels in irradiated HPAEC were assessed by qPCR at indicated timepoints post-irradiation. The mRNA levels were normalized to GAPDH. Graph represents means  $\pm$  SD, n = 3. \* indicates statistical significance from controls, p<0.05. (C) IGF-1 levels in secreted medium were measured by ELISA at indicated time-points postirradiation. Graph represents means  $\pm$  SD, n = 3. \* indicates statistical significance from controls, p<0.05. (D) Western blotting for expressions of proteins involved in IGF-1R hyperphosphorylation (left panel) and Akt hyperphosphorylation (Ser 473, right panel) at 3 hours post-irradiation.

Figure 3. Attenuation of radiation-induced accelerated senescence by AG1024. Subconfluent HPAEC were pretreated with 5  $\mu$ M AG1024 or vehicle (DMSO) for 30 minutes, exposed to 10 Gy X-rays and then incubated until time of assay. (A) Representaive pictures of SA- $\beta$ -gal staining at 4 days post-irradiation (B) Percentage of SA- $\beta$ -gal positive cells was counted in at least 3 random fields. Graph represents means  $\pm$  SEM, n = 6. \* indicates statistical significance from controls, p<0.05. (C) Representative western blotting for p53 and p21/waf1 expression at indicated time-points post-irradiation in the presence of AG1024 or DMSO.

Figure 4. Attenuation of radiation-induced accelerated senescence by rapamycin and Ly294002. Subconfluent HPAEC were pretreated with 500 nM rapamycin, 20 uM Ly294002, or vehicle (DMSO) for 30 minutes, exposed to 10 Gy X-rays and then incubated until time of assay. (A) Representative pictures of SA- $\beta$ -gal staining at 4 days post-irradiation (B) Percentage of SA- $\beta$ -gal positive cells was counted in at least 3 random fields. Graph represents means  $\pm$  SEM, n = 6. \* indicates statistical significance from controls, p<0.05. (C) Representative western blotting for p21/waf1 expression at indicated time-points post-irradiation in the presence of AG1024, rapamycin, Ly294002 or DMSO.

Figure 5. IR-induced IGF-1R-mediated accelerated senescence requires intact mTOR. Subconfluent HPAEC were treated with 5  $\mu$ M AG1024, 20  $\mu$ M Ly294002, 500 nM mTOR or DMSO for 30 minutes and subjected to 10 Gy X-rays. (A) At 3 hours post-irradiation, whole cell lysates were prepared and western blotting for phospho-Akt (Ser 473) was performed. (B) At 3 and 72 hours post-irradiation, whole cell lysates were prepared and western blotting for phospho-S6 (Ser 235/236) was performed.

Figure 6. H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> induces phosphorylation of IGF-1R. (A) Subconfluent HPAEC were

treated with 1 uM and 10 uM  $H_2O_2$  and incubated in a  $CO_2$  incubator. After 20 minutes, whole cell lysates were prepared and western blotting was performed to determine the phosphorylation status of IGF-1R. (B) HPAEC were treated with 5  $\mu$ M AG1024 for 30 minutes and then with 10 uM  $H_2O_2$  for 20 minutes. Western blotting was then performed to determine phosphorylation status of IGF-1R. (C) HPAEC were treated with 20 mM NAC and subjected to 10 Gy X-rays. Western blotting was then performed 3 hours post-irradiation to determine phosphorylation status of IGF-1R.

**Figure 7. Treatment with AG1024 or addition of IGF-1 does not regulate IRinduced apoptosis.** (A) Subconfluent HPAEC were treated with 5 μM AG1024 or DMSO for 30 minutes and subjected to 50 Gy X-rays. At 6 hours post-irradiation, whole cell lysates were prepared and western blotting for cleaved, caspase-3 was performed. (B) Subcofluent cultures of HPAEC were added with 10x IGF-1 concentration (50 ng/ml) for 18 hours and exposed to 10 Gy X-rays. At 6 hours post-irradiation, whole cell lysates were prepared and western blotting for cleaved, caspase-3 was performed.

## **CHAPTER 4: Dissertation Discussion**

Studies on the biological effects of IR have been exponentially increasing since the discovery of X-rays by Wilhelm Roentgen in 1895. However, effective and safe radiation countermeasures are still largely unavailable. The lack of radiation countermeasures is in part due to the lack of understanding of the complex mechanisms of IR-induced cell death in normal cell types. Radiation-induced damage at the cellular level continues to be a limiting factor for the use of clinical radiotherapy, for example, during the course of treatment for thoracic cancers, where IR-induced cell death in the normal lung tissue leads to pneumonitis, pulmonary remodeling, and eventually death (35). Although much research has focused on IR-induced cell death, most of these studies have been geared toward understanding the mechanisms of increased radiation resistance of cancer cells and have thus been conducted on immortalized cancer cell lines that do not represent the biological status of normal lung cells. Thus, there is a pressing need to investigate the molecular mechanisms of IR-induced cell death in normal lung cells.

In the first part of this dissertation, we investigated the modes of cell death following exposure of PAEC to varying doses of X-rays. We used the traditional clonogenic assay over a range of single doses used in the clinical setting in order to determine the doses required to kill the majority of PAEC population. We note that it is essential to obtain a homogeneous population of cells undergoing the same fate in order to limit the background signals during signal transduction studies. We found that a dose of 10 Gy abolished the clonogenic potential of approximately 99.9% of the PAEC population. Similarly, a much higher dose of 50 Gy caused loss of clonogenic potential

but did not abolish the ability of PAEC to remain attached on cell culture plates throughout the duration of the clonogenic assay (14 days).

IR can kill cells through a variety of modes of cell death including necrosis, apoptosis, and accelerated senescence. We examined the presence of each of the modes of cell death using biochemical assays commonly used for characterizing each mode. We found absence of necrosis on all doses examined using lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release assay, even at a dose of 50 Gy which was found to cause necrosis in leukemia cells (190). We found this not surprising as different cell types respond differently to various doses of radiation. The results of the LDH assay also revealed that 50 Gy X-rays does not cause significant membrane rupture, a characteristic of necrosis (103), and together with the clonogenic assay on this dose suggest that PAEC still remain metabolically active after such relatively high radiation dose.

Having ruled out necrosis, we then addressed the presence of apoptosis using neutral comet assay which detects double strand breaks representing internucleosomal DNA fragmentation that occurs in late stage apoptosis (140). We found that apoptosis was detectable beginning at 4 Gy and its presence became increasingly significant as the dose was raised. However, even after 50 Gy X-rays, the proportion of cells undergoing apoptosis was still limited. The activation of caspase-3 observed using caspase-3 activity assay and western blotting for cleaved caspase-3, together with the caspase-3 inhibition experiment confirmed the presence of apoptosis post-irradiation. Furthermore, we determined that IR-induced apoptosis involves activation of both intrinsic and extrinsic pathways of apoptosis. Although the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis in the context of radiation was well studied by a number of groups (16; 39; 55) in some cell types, the extrinsic pathway has also been shown to occur following exposure to radiation through mechanisms that may involve activation of the death receptors, *e.g.* Fas (52)

The absence of necrosis and the limited amount of apoptosis suggest the presence of another mechanism accounting for the loss of cell viability in irradiated PAEC. We determined that cellular senescence is the primary mode of cell death accounting for the loss of clonogenic potential of irradiated PAEC. The irradiated PAEC display markers of senescence including 1) large flat cellular morphology; 2) upregulation of p21/waf1; 3) cell proliferation arrest; and 4) increased SA- $\beta$ -gal activity. This is consistent with a set of criteria for cellular senescence including 1) remarkable morphologic transformations; 2) altered gene expression of cell growth-regulatory proteins; 3) cell cycle arrest; 4) increased SA- $\beta$ -gal activity; and 5) altered response to apoptotic stimuli (139). We use the term accelerated senescence, as others have used it in other research, to refer to this senescent phenotype to distinguish it from replicative senescence that occurs following repeated passages of cells in culture (139). Senescent cells are still metabolically active although they have lost the capacity to proliferate (162) and how they die remains incompletely understood. In our study, whether irradiated PAEC that have undergone senescence have altered response to apoptotic stimuli is not investigated since irradiation of PAEC yields both apoptotic and senescent phenotypes. Although apoptosis has long been considered to cause the loss of clonogenic ability of cells exposed to various cytotoxic agents, treatment-induced senescence has been thought to also contribute significantly to this loss of replicative capacity (162). Our results suggest that at lower doses, accelerated senescence is the predominant mode of loss of cell viability in PAEC.

We hypothesize that IR-induced loss of PAEC viability may then contribute to increased vascular permeability and subsequent pulmonary remodeling and fibrosis.

In the present investigation, we employed a combination of dose-response and time course assays to provide a comprehensive evaluation of the fate of irradiated cells. We found that our results are inconsistent with the findings of another study conducted by Stitt-Fischer 2010 on X-rays irradiated PAEC where the authors concluded that neither apoptosis nor accelerated senescence was induced following exposure of PAEC to X-rays (174). We hypothesized that the differences between the findings and interpretations of the Stitt-Fischer study and our present investigation are due to differences in the time courses examined, as well as in the assay conditions performed during respective investigations. For example, we show through a full time course study that caspase-3 is activated at 6 and 12 hours post-irradiation which disappears at later time-points. This is confirmed by the results of the time-course assays for activation of caspases-3, 8, and 9 similarly done over a 24-hour time course. In contrast, the study by Stitt-Fischer examined the activation of caspase-3 at one time-point (174), the 24-hour time-point where caspase-3 activation is no longer detectable by either western blotting or biochemical assay.

The collective data in the first part of the dissertation reveals the fate of irradiated normal lung cells. In theory, exposure of cells to ionizing radiation results in two main consequences – survival or death. At lower doses of X-rays, a fraction of PAEC still survived; these are the cells that have undergone successful repair and remained viable. Increasing doses of X-rays increased the incidence of loss of clonogenic ability and switched the mode from accelerated senescence to apoptosis. It is likely that further

increasing the dose beyond 50 Gy would induce necrosis in some cells of the irradiated PAEC population, possibly in a similar trend observed in a study on leukemia cells (190). Our results are consistent with theories that the magnitude of stress switches cell deaths from senescence to apoptosis to necrosis (173). Indeed, findings from other investigations have shown that this happens across a variety of cytotoxic agents including cisplatin-induced cytotoxicity in human proximal tubule and lymphoma cell lines (167) and doxorubicin-treated human hepatoma cell lines (54). In the context of radiotoxicity, particularly during radiotherapy, the knowledge of the type of cell death of normal cells may be useful in designing a more precise therapeutic strategy as one or several modes of cell death may be induced by a specific dose with different signaling pathways being triggered for each mode.

In the second part of this dissertation, we examined the activation and contribution of ER stress in IR-induced cell death. A number of studies have demonstrated that ROS and agents that generate ROS induces ER stress in cells (53; 132; 178; 203). For the purposes of this investigation, we used a dose of 50 Gy to examine ER stress as this dose causes apoptosis in addition to accelerated senescence, allowing us to study ER stress especially in the context of apoptosis in irradiated PAEC. We determined that markers of ER stress are induced post-irradiation. This suggests that PAEC deal with protein misfolding, likely a result of protein oxidation, a well-established consequence of IR (42; 50). GRP78, a known chaperone for misfolded protein (13), was activated post-irradiation suggesting the induction of the ATF6 arm of the ER stress response. On the other hand, the transient increase in eIF2 $\alpha$  phosphorylation in irradiated PAEC is indicative of the ER stress response via the PERK pathway. Moreover, the

increase in CHOP and GADD34 expressions validates the activation of the two pathways. Our results confirm previous studies showing that radiation may cause induction of ER stress (80) and we extend our investigation to clarify whether ER stress activation upon exposure to IR mediates cell death. Since salubrinal, a specific inhibitor of eIF2 $\alpha$  dephosphorylation (22), rescues the irradiated PAEC from undergoing apoptosis as observed in neutral comet assay, the ER stress response post-irradiation in PAEC appears to mediate the induction of apoptosis. Furthermore, western blotting for cleaved caspase-3 in the presence of salubrinal suggests that IR-induced ER stress-mediated apoptosis is caspase-3-dependent. Although the activation of ER stress is not upstream of IR-induced accelerated senesence. As such, inhibition of IR-induced ER stress might alleviate the adverse side effects of IR-induced apoptosis and may increase the replicative ability of irradiated cells.

In the third part of the dissertation, we investigated the mechanisms of IR-induced accelerated senescence. For this part, we used 10 Gy of X-ray dose to eliminate the background signals that could potentially come from apoptosis if 50 Gy were used, or from fractions of surviving PAEC if lower doses were used. As 10 Gy induces loss of cell viability in the majority of the PAEC population through accelerated senescence, the use of this amount of dose suited our purpose.

We addressed the question of whether accelerated senescence induced by IR involves continuous proliferative signals in the presence of cell cycle arrest. This is a recent view on cellular senescence coming from research on inhibition of mTOR by rapamcycin demonstrating that rapamycin delays and attenuates cellular senescence (17;

27; 43). Irradiation of PAEC in the presence of rapamycin rescues the development of the senescent phenotype including p21/waf accumulation and the increase in SA- $\beta$ -gal activity consistent with the findings of studies on other agents of accelerated senescence (Demidenko and Blagosklonny 2008; Blagosklonny 2011; Cao, Graziotto et al. 2011(101). The IR-induced senescent phenotype is also attenuated by Ly294002, an inhibitor of the PI3K pathway, in a similar manner conferred by rapamycin. mTOR has been considered as an integration point for various growth and proliferative signals in cells and PI3K has been shown to feed growth signals to mTOR through Akt. Although Akt has been known as a mediator of survival and growth signals, several studies have demonstrated that Akt is also involved in the development of cellular senescence and regulates the replicative life span of cells at least in vitro (8; 144). In the case of our study, the attenuation of IR-induced cellular senescence conferred by inhibiting PI3K suggests that this pathway may be involved in IR-induced accelerated senescence.

We then investigated the possibility that IGF-1R serves as a mediator of IRinduced accelerated senescence. Under normal conditions, IGF-1R is involved in cell growth and proliferation and feeds signals to mTOR (141; 151). Because of this connection, we hypothesized that IGF-1R inhibition would attenuate the development of IR-induced phenotype in a similar manner as the rapamycin effect. We used the IGF-1R tyrphostin inhibitor, AG1024, a pharmacological inhibitor acting on the IGF-1R kinase activity (196). In the presence of AG1024, IR-induced accelerated senescence in PAEC was attenuated. Those cells which were negative for SA- $\beta$ -gal staining did not exhibit the characteristic large flat morphology of senescent cells; instead, they resembled the morphology of non-irradiated cells. Upregulation of p21/waf1 was also reduced in irradiated cells. Our data is consistent with another study conducted by Lewis et al (2008) on keratinocytes, where the authors showed that UVB-induced premature senescence requires the presence of functional IGF-1R and p53. Taken together, our results recapitulate the idea that senescence is a state of continuous proliferative and growth signaling in the presence of a cell cycle blockade (118).

We also examined the possible activation of IGF-1R post-irradiation to look deeper at the mechanisms of IR-induced cellular senescence. IGF-1R was phosphorylated in irradiated PAEC at an early time-point suggesting at least transient activation of the receptor. We then examined the expression of IGF-1 and IGF-2, two common ligands capable of activating IGF-1R. The mRNA expressions for the two ligands were increased, however, the significant increase occured at a much later time-point. The same is true for the secretion of IGF-1 into the medium. This suggests that activation of IGF-1R occur through a ligand-independent manner prompting us to examine whether reactive oxygen species alone can induce phosphorylation of IGF-1R. Treatment with  $H_2O_2$  alone at a relatively low concentration of 10 uM induced phosphorylation of IGF-1R with a fast kinetics, after 20 minutes of treatment which did not induce significant levels of p21/waf1. This fast kinetics was not likely due to synthesis and release of new proteins and suggests that ROS, which is generated during irradiation and through subsequent cellular reactions, contributed to the early time-point activation of IGF-1R.

How does IGF-1R inhibition relate to attenuation of IR-induced accelerated senescence by rapamycin? The IGF-1R inhibitor used in our study also blocked mTOR as shown by decreased phosphorylation of S6 ribosomal protein, a downstream target and a commonly used surrogate marker for mTOR (77) It is likely that the development of IR-

85

induced accelerated senescence required intact mTOR as we did not find increase in mTOR activity in irradiated PAEC. This finding is similar with the results of the previous studies discussed above (44; 88). We also found that, although inhibition of Akt rescued irradiated PAEC from undergoing senescence, the mechanism appeared to be parallel and Akt was not necessarily involved in IGF-1R-mediated accelerated senescence.

We also found that inhibition of IGF-1R and mTOR prevented cellular senescence by acting on the p53/p21 pathway. The cell cycle arrest and the induction of the other markers of senescence *e.g.* increased SA- $\beta$ -gal activity and large flat morphology have been considered uncoupled responses (139). Our results show that inhibition of IGF-1R also attenuates the p21/waf1 upregulation post-irradiation suggesting that in addition to relieving the continuous proliferative signaling, it may also relieve cell cycle arrest.

Since IGF-1R is a growth factor known to promote cell proliferation under normal conditions, a number of studies have explored the role of the IGF-1R signaling pathway in the protection of cells from IR-induced apoptosis. In most transformed cells, IGF-1R is widely expressed and confers pro-survival properties following cellular stress (47; 48; 146; 197). A positive correlation has also been shown between IGF-1R activation and radiation resistance in some tumor cells (37; 58; 154; 187). Most of these studies were focused only on the contribution of apoptosis. However, the anti-apoptotic activity of IGF-1R appears to be dispensable in the induction of radiation resistance in a variety of tumor cells suggesting the possibility of an unidentified mechanism (180) IGF-1R was recently implicated in several models of senescence including *in vitro* replicative senescence in primary cortical neurons (38) and in UVB-induced premature senescence

in human keratinocytes (118). Its main ligand, IGF-1, has been shown to enhance and promote senescence in primary cell cultures (75; 183). We find that IGF-1R is not a regulator of IR-induced apoptosis as neither AG1024 treatment nor IGF-1 administration significantly attenuates caspase-3 activation.

Investigations into the mechanisms of IR-induced accelerated senescence have lagged far behind studies on IR-induced apoptosis. Although accelerated senescence has been regarded as deleterious to cells in culture, it is only recently that inhibition of accelerated senescence has been shown to mitigate IR-induced mucositis in vivo mouse model (88). In their study, the authors showed that inhibition of mTOR by rapamycin rescues the loss of replicative ability of the pool of stem cells in irradiated mice, thereby preserving the function of the affected organ (88). Given that inhibition of IGF-1R also blocks mTOR and attenuates IR-induced accelerated senescence in PAEC, one recommendation for future studies is to examine the potential of IG-1R inhibitors as radiation countermeasure and/or mitigator in murine models of thoracic-irradiation induced pulmonary pneumonitis and fibrosis. Various IGF-1R inhibitors are already under clinical trial for the treatment of certain cancers which will make it more feasible for use in the future. However investigating whether they can actually block IR-induced biological effects and qualify as radiation countermeasures is still a necessary requirement.

Although much research has focused on epithelial cell death in IR-induced pulmonary injury and fibrosis, accumulating evidence reveals the significance of endothelial cell injury in precipitating IR-induced pulmonary pathologies. Studies have shown that endothelial cell damage is an early consequence of lung exposure to radiation,

87

triggering vascular leak and inflammation (65; 95; 147; 207) that are postulated to be involved in the development of pneumonitis and pulmonary fibrosis (69; 102; 109). Senescent cells also exhibit senescence-associated secretory phenotype which is characterized by increased secretion of inflammatory factors (36). This ties the importance of IR-induced endothelial cell damage to the overall consequence of lung exposure to radiation.

This dissertation explores the mechanisms of IR-induced cell death in primary lung cells particularly endothelial cells. Although the effects of radiation varies among cell types, we expect that most of the findings in this study will be found to be consistent for the effects of radiation on a variety other normal untransformed cells in the body, including endothelial cells and epithelial-like cells of other tissues. It will still be important, however, to demonstrate our findings in other cell types and origin in order to come up with a unifying theme across all systems. It will also be interesting to confirm whether our findings will be similar for other types of ionizing radiation. Together, these will be important in designing effective and safe countermeasures during the course of radiotherapy or from exposure to accidental irradiations.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Abboud SL, Bethel CR, Aron DC. 1991. Secretion of insulinlike growth factor I and insulinlike growth factor-binding proteins by murine bone marrow stromal cells. *The Journal of clinical investigation* 88:470-5
- 2. Adler HT, Chinery R, Wu DY, Kussick SJ, Payne JM, et al. 1999. Leukemic HRX fusion proteins inhibit GADD34-induced apoptosis and associate with the GADD34 and hSNF5/INI1 proteins. *Mol Cell Biol* 19:7050-60
- 3. Akagi Y, Ito K, Sawada S. 1993. Radiation-induced apoptosis and necrosis in Molt-4 cells: a study of dose-effect relationships and their modification. *International journal of radiation biology* 64:47-56
- 4. Akamatsu K, Shibata MA, Ito Y, Sohma Y, Azuma H, Otsuki Y. 2009. Riluzole Induces Apoptotic Cell Death in Human Prostate Cancer Cells via Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress. *Anticancer Res* 29:2195-204
- 5. Alvero AB, Montagna MK, Mor G. 2008. Correlation of caspase activity and in vitro chemo-response in epithelial ovarian cancer cell lines. *Methods Mol Biol* 414:79-82
- 6. Anisimov VN, Zabezhinski MA, Popovich IG, Piskunova TS, Semenchenko AV, et al. 2011. Rapamycin increases lifespan and inhibits spontaneous tumorigenesis in inbred female mice. *Cell Cycle* 10:4230-6
- 7. Assefa Z, Van Laethem A, Garmyn M, Agostinis P. 2005. Ultraviolet radiationinduced apoptosis in keratinocytes: on the role of cytosolic factors. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1755:90-106
- 8. Astle MV, Hannan KM, Ng PY, Lee RS, George AJ, et al. 2012. AKT induces senescence in human cells via mTORC1 and p53 in the absence of DNA damage: implications for targeting mTOR during malignancy. *Oncogene* 31:1949-62
- 9. Ballas LK, Elkin EB, Schrag D, Minsky BD, Bach PB. 2006. Radiation therapy facilities in the United States. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 66:1204-11
- 10. Bandyopadhyay D, Gatza C, Donehower LA, Medrano EE. 2005. Analysis of cellular senescence in culture in vivo: the senescence-associated beta-galactosidase assay. *Curr Protoc Cell Biol* Chapter 18:Unit 18 9
- 11. Barrett WC, DeGnore JP, Keng YF, Zhang ZY, Yim MB, Chock PB. 1999. Roles of superoxide radical anion in signal transduction mediated by reversible regulation of protein-tyrosine phosphatase 1B. *J Biol Chem* 274:34543-6
- 12. Baserga R. 1999. The IGF-I receptor in cancer research. Exp Cell Res 253:1-6
- Baumeister P, Luo S, Skarnes WC, Sui G, Seto E, et al. 2005. Endoplasmic reticulum stress induction of the Grp78/BiP promoter: activating mechanisms mediated by YY1 and its interactive chromatin modifiers. *Mol Cell Biol* 25:4529-40
- Berger AB, Sexton KB, Bogyo M. 2006. Commonly used caspase inhibitors designed based on substrate specificity profiles lack selectivity. *Cell research* 16:961-3
- 15. Besancenot R, Chaligne R, Tonetti C, Pasquier F, Marty C, et al. 2010. A senescence-like cell-cycle arrest occurs during megakaryocytic maturation:

implications for physiological and pathological megakaryocytic proliferation. *PLoS Biol* 8

- 16. Bitomsky N, Hofmann TG. 2009. Apoptosis and autophagy: Regulation of apoptosis by DNA damage signalling roles of p53, p73 and HIPK2. *The FEBS journal* 276:6074-83
- 17. Blagosklonny MV. 2011. Cell cycle arrest is not senescence. *Aging* 3:94-101
- 18. Blagosklonny MV. 2011. Progeria, rapamycin and normal aging: recent breakthrough. *Aging* 3:685-91
- 19. Bouallegue A, Pandey NR, Srivastava AK. 2009. CaMKII knockdown attenuates H2O2-induced phosphorylation of ERK1/2, PKB/Akt, and IGF-1R in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Free Radic Biol Med* 47:858-66
- 20. Boucher MJ, Jean D, Vezina A, Rivard N. 2004. Dual role of MEK/ERK signaling in senescence and transformation of intestinal epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 286:G736-46
- 21. Bourougaa K, Naski N, Boularan C, Mlynarczyk C, Candeias MM, et al. 2010. Endoplasmic reticulum stress induces G2 cell-cycle arrest via mRNA translation of the p53 isoform p53/47. *Molecular cell* 38:78-88
- 22. Boyce M, Bryant KF, Jousse C, Long K, Harding HP, et al. 2005. A selective inhibitor of eIF2alpha dephosphorylation protects cells from ER stress. *Science* 307:935-9
- 23. Boyce M, Yuan J. 2006. Cellular response to endoplasmic reticulum stress: a matter of life or death. *Cell Death Differ* 13:363-73
- 24. Brewer JW, Diehl JA. 2000. PERK mediates cell-cycle exit during the mammalian unfolded protein response. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97:12625-30
- 25. Brunet S, Thibault L, Lepage G, Seidman EG, Dube N, Levy E. 2000. Modulation of endoplasmic reticulum-bound cholesterol regulatory enzymes by iron/ascorbate-mediated lipid peroxidation. *Free Radic Biol Med* 28:46-54
- 26. Campisi J. 2005. Senescent cells, tumor suppression, and organismal aging: good citizens, bad neighbors. *Cell* 120:513-22
- Cao K, Graziotto JJ, Blair CD, Mazzulli JR, Erdos MR, et al. 2011. Rapamycin reverses cellular phenotypes and enhances mutant protein clearance in Hutchinson-Gilford progeria syndrome cells. *Science translational medicine* 3:89ra58
- 28. Chatterjee S, Baeter S, Bhattacharya J. 2007. Endothelial and epithelial signaling in the lung. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 293:L517-9
- 29. Chenal J, Pierre K, Pellerin L. 2008. Insulin and IGF-1 enhance the expression of the neuronal monocarboxylate transporter MCT2 by translational activation via stimulation of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase-Akt-mammalian target of rapamycin pathway. *The European journal of neuroscience* 27:53-65
- 30. Chow J, Tron VA. 2005. Molecular aspects of ultraviolet radiation-induced apoptosis in the skin. *J Cutan Med Surg* 9:289-95
- 31. Clarke AR, Purdie CA, Harrison DJ, Morris RG, Bird CC, et al. 1993. Thymocyte apoptosis induced by p53-dependent and independent pathways. *Nature* 362:849-52
- 32. Claro S, Kanashiro CA, Oshiro ME, Ferreira AT, Khalil RA. 2007. alpha- and epsilon-protein kinase C activity during smooth muscle cell apoptosis in response

to gamma-radiation. *The Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics* 322:964-72

- 33. Clemmons DR. 2009. Role of IGF-I in skeletal muscle mass maintenance. *Trends in endocrinology and metabolism: TEM* 20:349-56
- 34. Cmielova J, Havelek R, Soukup T, Jiroutova A, Visek B, et al. 2012. Gamma radiation induces senescence in human adult mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow and periodontal ligaments. *International journal of radiation biology*:epublished ahead of print
- 35. Coggle JE, Lambert BE, Moores SR. 1986. Radiation effects in the lung. *Environmental health perspectives* 70:261-91
- 36. Coppe JP, Desprez PY, Krtolica A, Campisi J. 2010. The senescence-associated secretory phenotype: the dark side of tumor suppression. *Annual review of pathology* 5:99-118
- 37. Cosaceanu D, Budiu RA, Carapancea M, Castro J, Lewensohn R, Dricu A. 2007. Ionizing radiation activates IGF-1R triggering a cytoprotective signaling by interfering with Ku-DNA binding and by modulating Ku86 expression via a p38 kinase-dependent mechanism. Oncogene 26:2423-34
- 38. Costantini C, Lorenzetto E, Cellini B, Buffelli M, Rossi F, Della-Bianca V. 2010. Astrocytes regulate the expression of insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor (IGF1-R) in primary cortical neurons during in vitro senescence. *Journal of molecular neuroscience : MN* 40:342-52
- 39. Coureuil M, Ugolin N, Tavernier M, Chevillard S, Barroca V, et al. 2010. Puma and Trail/Dr5 pathways control radiation-induced apoptosis in distinct populations of testicular progenitors. *PLoS ONE* 5:e12134
- 40. Criswell T, Beman M, Araki S, Leskov K, Cataldo E, et al. 2005. Delayed activation of insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor/Src/MAPK/Egr-1 signaling regulates clusterin expression, a pro-survival factor. *J Biol Chem* 280:14212-21
- 41. Cronin TD, Brauer RO. 1949. Radiodermatitis and necrosis. *Surgery* 26:665-72
- 42. Daly MJ, Gaidamakova EK, Matrosova VY, Vasilenko A, Zhai M, et al. 2007. Protein oxidation implicated as the primary determinant of bacterial radioresistance. *PLoS Biol* 5:e92
- 43. Demidenko ZN, Blagosklonny MV. 2008. Growth stimulation leads to cellular senescence when the cell cycle is blocked. *Cell Cycle* 7:3355-61
- Demidenko ZN, Zubova SG, Bukreeva EI, Pospelov VA, Pospelova TV, Blagosklonny MV. 2009. Rapamycin decelerates cellular senescence. *Cell Cycle* 8:1888-95
- 45. Denecker G, Vercammen D, Steemans M, Vanden Berghe T, Brouckaert G, et al. 2001. Death receptor-induced apoptotic and necrotic cell death: differential role of caspases and mitochondria. *Cell Death Differ* 8:829-40
- 46. Dimri GP, Lee X, Basile G, Acosta M, Scott G, et al. 1995. A biomarker that identifies senescent human cells in culture and in aging skin in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 92:9363-7
- 47. Dricu A, Carlberg M, Wang M, Larsson O. 1997. Inhibition of N-linked glycosylation using tunicamycin causes cell death in malignant cells: role of down-regulation of the insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor in induction of apoptosis. *Cancer Res* 57:543-8

- 48. Dricu A, Wang M, Hjertman M, Malec M, Blegen H, et al. 1997. Mevalonateregulated mechanisms in cell growth control: role of dolichyl phosphate in expression of the insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor (IGF-1R) in comparison to Ras prenylation and expression of c-myc. *Glycobiology* 7:625-33
- 49. Drullion C, Tregoat C, Lagarde V, Tan S, Gioia R, et al. 2012. Apoptosis and autophagy have opposite roles on imatinib-induced K562 leukemia cell senescence. *Cell death & disease* 3:e373
- 50. Du J, Gebicki JM. 2004. Proteins are major initial cell targets of hydroxyl free radicals. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 36:2334-43
- 51. Dworzecki T, Idasiak A, Sygula D, Dworzecka U, Suwinski R. 2012. Stereotactic radiotherapy (SBRT) as asole or salvage therapy in non-small cell lung cancer patients. *Neoplasma* 59:114-20
- 52. Embree-Ku M, Venturini D, Boekelheide K. 2002. Fas is involved in the p53dependent apoptotic response to ionizing radiation in mouse testis. *Biol Reprod* 66:1456-61
- 53. England K, Driscoll CO, Cotter TG. 2006. ROS and protein oxidation in early stages of cytotoxic drug induced apoptosis. *Free Radic Res* 40:1124-37
- 54. Eom YW, Kim MA, Park SS, Goo MJ, Kwon HJ, et al. 2005. Two distinct modes of cell death induced by doxorubicin: apoptosis and cell death through mitotic catastrophe accompanied by senescence-like phenotype. *Oncogene* 24:4765-77
- 55. Esposito F, Tornincasa M, Federico A, Chiappetta G, Pierantoni GM, Fusco A. 2012. High-mobility group A1 protein inhibits p53-mediated intrinsic apoptosis by interacting with Bcl-2 at mitochondria. *Cell death & disease* 3:e383
- 56. Ferrari S, Bandi HR, Hofsteenge J, Bussian BM, Thomas G. 1991. Mitogenactivated 70K S6 kinase. Identification of in vitro 40 S ribosomal S6 phosphorylation sites. *J Biol Chem* 266:22770-5
- 57. Flavin MP, Parton LA, Bowman CM. 1990. Conditioned medium from irradiated bovine pulmonary artery endothelial cells stimulates increased protein synthesis by irradiated bovine lung fibroblasts in vitro. *Experimental lung research* 16:405-22
- 58. Floratou K, Giannopoulou E, Antonacopoulou A, Karakantza M, Adonakis G, et al. 2012. Oxidative stress due to radiation in CD34+ Hematopoietic progenitor cells: protection by IGF-1. *Journal of radiation research* 53:672-85
- 59. Forcet C, Ye X, Granger L, Corset V, Shin H, et al. 2001. The dependence receptor DCC (deleted in colorectal cancer) defines an alternative mechanism for caspase activation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98:3416-21
- 60. Franken NA, Rodermond HM, Stap J, Haveman J, van Bree C. 2006. Clonogenic assay of cells in vitro. *Nat Protoc* 1:2315-9
- 61. Freund A, Laberge RM, Demaria M, Campisi J. 2012. Lamin B1 loss is a senescence-associated biomarker. *Molecular biology of the cell* 23:2066-75
- 62. Fritz P, Kraus HJ, Muhlnickel W, Hammer U, Dolken W, et al. 2006. Stereotactic, single-dose irradiation of stage I non-small cell lung cancer and lung metastases. *Radiation oncology (London, England)* 1:30
- 63. Fulda S, Debatin KM. 2006. Extrinsic versus intrinsic apoptosis pathways in anticancer chemotherapy. *Oncogene* 25:4798-811

- 64. Fumagalli M, Rossiello F, Clerici M, Barozzi S, Cittaro D, et al. 2012. Telomeric DNA damage is irreparable and causes persistent DNA-damage-response activation. *Nature cell biology* 14:355-65
- 65. Gabrys D, Greco O, Patel G, Prise KM, Tozer GM, Kanthou C. 2007. Radiation effects on the cytoskeleton of endothelial cells and endothelial monolayer permeability. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 69:1553-62
- 66. Galluzzi L, Joza N, Tasdemir E, Maiuri MC, Hengartner M, et al. 2008. No death without life: vital functions of apoptotic effectors. *Cell Death Differ* 15:1113-23
- 67. Golstein P, Kroemer G. 2007. Cell death by necrosis: towards a molecular definition. *Trends in biochemical sciences* 32:37-43
- 68. Gosselin K, Deruy E, Martien S, Vercamer C, Bouali F, et al. 2009. Senescent keratinocytes die by autophagic programmed cell death. *Am J Pathol* 174:423-35
- Graham MM, Evans ML, Dahlen DD, Mahler PA, Rasey JS. 1990.
  Pharmacological alteration of the lung vascular response to radiation. *Int J Radiat* Oncol Biol Phys 19:329-39
- 70. Guan L, Han B, Li Z, Hua F, Huang F, et al. 2009. Sodium selenite induces apoptosis by ROS-mediated endoplasmic reticulum stress and mitochondrial dysfunction in human acute promyelocytic leukemia NB4 cells. *Apoptosis* 14:218-25
- 71. Gupta S, Deepti A, Deegan S, Lisbona F, Hetz C, Samali A. 2010. HSP72 protects cells from ER stress-induced apoptosis via enhancement of IRE1alpha-XBP1 signaling through a physical interaction. *PLoS Biol* 8:e1000410
- 72. Hall EJ, Giaccia AJ. 2006. *Radiobiology for the radiologist*. Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins. ix, 546 p. pp.
- 73. Hampel B, Malisan F, Niederegger H, Testi R, Jansen-Durr P. 2004. Differential regulation of apoptotic cell death in senescent human cells. *Exp Gerontol* 39:1713-21
- 74. Han Y, Wang Y, Xu HT, Yang LH, Wei Q, et al. 2009. X-radiation induces nonsmall-cell lung cancer apoptosis by upregulation of Axin expression. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 75:518-26
- 75. Handayaningsih AE, Takahashi M, Fukuoka H, Iguchi G, Nishizawa H, et al. 2012. IGF-I enhances cellular senescence via the reactive oxygen species-p53 pathway. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 425:478-84
- 76. Harding HP, Zhang Y, Ron D. 1999. Protein translation and folding are coupled by an endoplasmic-reticulum-resident kinase. *Nature* 397:271-4
- 77. Hay N, Sonenberg N. 2004. Upstream and downstream of mTOR. *Genes & development* 18:1926-45
- 78. Hayflick L. 1965. The Limited in Vitro Lifetime of Human Diploid Cell Strains. *Experimental cell research* 37:614-36
- 79. Hayflick L, Moorhead PS. 1961. The serial cultivation of human diploid cell strains. *Experimental cell research* 25:585-621
- 80. He L, Kim SO, Kwon O, Jeong SJ, Kim MS, et al. 2009. ATM blocks tunicamycin-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress. *FEBS Lett* 583:903-8
- 81. Holzenberger M, Dupont J, Ducos B, Leneuve P, Geloen A, et al. 2003. IGF-1 receptor regulates lifespan and resistance to oxidative stress in mice. *Nature* 421:182-7

- 82. Hong EH, Lee SJ, Kim JS, Lee KH, Um HD, et al. 2010. Ionizing radiation induces cellular senescence of articular chondrocytes via negative regulation of SIRT1 by p38 kinase. *J Biol Chem* 285:1283-95
- 83. Horsman MR, Nielsen T, Ostergaard L, Overgaard J. 2006. Radiation administered as a large single dose or in a fractionated schedule: Role of the tumour vasculature as a target for influencing response. *Acta Oncol* 45:876-80
- 84. Hsieh TC, Juan G, Darzynkiewicz Z, Wu JM. 1999. Resveratrol increases nitric oxide synthase, induces accumulation of p53 and p21(WAF1/CIP1), and suppresses cultured bovine pulmonary artery endothelial cell proliferation by perturbing progression through S and G2. *Cancer research* 59:2596-601
- 85. Huang M, Lai WP, Wong MS, Yang M. 2001. Effect of receptor phosphorylation on the binding between IRS-1 and IGF-1R as revealed by surface plasmon resonance biosensor. *FEBS Lett* 505:31-6
- 86. Hutchinson F. 1966. The molecular basis for radiation effects on cells. *Cancer* research 26:2045-52
- 87. Igarashi K, Sakimoto I, Kataoka K, Ohta K, Miura M. 2007. Radiation-induced senescence-like phenotype in proliferating and plateau-phase vascular endothelial cells. *Experimental cell research* 313:3326-36
- 88. Iglesias-Bartolome R, Patel V, Cotrim A, Leelahavanichkul K, Molinolo AA, et al. 2012. mTOR Inhibition Prevents Epithelial Stem Cell Senescence and Protects from Radiation-Induced Mucositis. *Cell Stem Cell* 11:401-14
- 89. Jella KK, Garcia A, McClean B, Byrne HJ, Lyng FM. 2012. Cell death pathways in directly irradiated cells and cells exposed to medium from irradiated cells. *International journal of radiation biology*
- 90. Jeyapalan JC, Ferreira M, Sedivy JM, Herbig U. 2007. Accumulation of senescent cells in mitotic tissue of aging primates. *Mechanisms of ageing and development* 128:36-44
- 91. Jimbo A, Fujita E, Kouroku Y, Ohnishi J, Inohara N, et al. 2003. ER stress induces caspase-8 activation, stimulating cytochrome c release and caspase-9 activation. *Experimental cell research* 283:156-66
- 92. Jolles B, Harrison RG. 1966. Enzymic processes and vascular changes in the skin radiation reaction. *Br J Radiol* 39:12-8
- 93. Jonathan EC, Bernhard EJ, McKenna WG. 1999. How does radiation kill cells? *Curr Opin Chem Biol* 3:77-83
- 94. Kang MH, Reynolds CP. 2009. Bcl-2 inhibitors: targeting mitochondrial apoptotic pathways in cancer therapy. *Clin Cancer Res* 15:1126-32
- 95. Kantak SS, Diglio CA, Onoda JM. 1993. Low dose radiation-induced endothelial cell retraction. *International journal of radiation biology* 64:319-28
- 96. Kerr JF, Wyllie AH, Currie AR. 1972. Apoptosis: a basic biological phenomenon with wide-ranging implications in tissue kinetics. *Br J Cancer* 26:239-57
- 97. Khalid M, Haresign W, Luck MR. 2000. Secretion of IGF-1 by ovine granulosa cells: effects of growth hormone and follicle stimulating hormone. *Animal reproduction science* 58:261-72
- 98. Kim I, Shu CW, Xu W, Shiau CW, Grant D, et al. 2009. Chemical biology investigation of cell death pathways activated by endoplasmic reticulum stress reveals cytoprotective modulators of ASK1. *J Biol Chem* 284:1593-603

- 99. Kim R, Emi M, Tanabe K, Murakami S. 2006. Role of the unfolded protein response in cell death. *Apoptosis* 11:5-13
- 100. Kojima K, Shimanuki M, Shikami M, Samudio IJ, Ruvolo V, et al. 2008. The dual PI3 kinase/mTOR inhibitor PI-103 prevents p53 induction by Mdm2 inhibition but enhances p53-mediated mitochondrial apoptosis in p53 wild-type AML. Leukemia : official journal of the Leukemia Society of America, Leukemia Research Fund, U.K 22:1728-36
- 101. Korotchkina LG, Leontieva OV, Bukreeva EI, Demidenko ZN, Gudkov AV, Blagosklonny MV. 2010. The choice between p53-induced senescence and quiescence is determined in part by the mTOR pathway. *Aging* 2:344-52
- 102. Krishnan L, Krishnan EC, Jewell WR. 1988. Immediate effect of irradiation on microvasculature. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 15:147-50
- 103. Kroemer G, Galluzzi L, Brenner C. 2007. Mitochondrial membrane permeabilization in cell death. *Physiological reviews* 87:99-163
- 104. Krown KA, Page MT, Nguyen C, Zechner D, Gutierrez V, et al. 1996. Tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced apoptosis in cardiac myocytes: involvement of the sphingolipid signaling cascade in cardiac cell death. *J Clin Invest* 98:2854-65
- 105. Kumar P. 1997. The role of thoracic radiotherapy in the management of limitedstage small cell lung cancer: past, present, and future. *Chest* 112:2598-65S
- 106. Kurz DJ, Decary S, Hong Y, Erusalimsky JD. 2000. Senescence-associated (beta)-galactosidase reflects an increase in lysosomal mass during replicative ageing of human endothelial cells. *J Cell Sci* 113 (Pt 20):3613-22
- Kyprianou N, Rock S. 1998. Radiation-induced apoptosis of human prostate cancer cells is independent of mutant p53 overexpression. *Anticancer Res* 18:897-905
- 108. Laplante M, Sabatini DM. 2012. mTOR signaling in growth control and disease. *Cell* 149:274-93
- 109. Law MP. 1985. Vascular permeability and late radiation fibrosis in mouse lung. *Radiation research* 103:60-76
- 110. Leach JK, Van Tuyle G, Lin PS, Schmidt-Ullrich R, Mikkelsen RB. 2001. Ionizing radiation-induced, mitochondria-dependent generation of reactive oxygen/nitrogen. *Cancer Res* 61:3894-901
- 111. Lee CH, Inoki K, Karbowniczek M, Petroulakis E, Sonenberg N, et al. 2007. Constitutive mTOR activation in TSC mutants sensitizes cells to energy starvation and genomic damage via p53. *EMBO J* 26:4812-23
- 112. Lee SR, Kwon KS, Kim SR, Rhee SG. 1998. Reversible inactivation of proteintyrosine phosphatase 1B in A431 cells stimulated with epidermal growth factor. *J Biol Chem* 273:15366-72
- 113. Leontieva OV, Blagosklonny MV. 2010. DNA damaging agents and p53 do not cause senescence in quiescent cells, while consecutive re-activation of mTOR is associated with conversion to senescence. *Aging* 2:924-35
- 114. Leontieva OV, Demidenko ZN, Gudkov AV, Blagosklonny MV. 2011. Elimination of proliferating cells unmasks the shift from senescence to quiescence caused by rapamycin. *PLoS One* 6:e26126
- 115. Leontieva OV, Gudkov AV, Blagosklonny MV. 2010. Weak p53 permits senescence during cell cycle arrest. *Cell Cycle* 9:4323-7

- 116. LeRoith D, Baserga R, Helman L, Roberts CT, Jr. 1995. Insulin-like growth factors and cancer. *Ann Intern Med* 122:54-9
- 117. LeRoith D, Neuenschwander S, Wood TL, Hennighausen L. 1995. Insulin-like growth factor-I and insulin-like growth factor binding protein-3 inhibit involution of the mammary gland following lactation: studies in transgenic mice. *Progress in growth factor research* 6:433-6
- 118. Lewis DA, Yi Q, Travers JB, Spandau DF. 2008. UVB-induced senescence in human keratinocytes requires a functional insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor and p53. *Molecular biology of the cell* 19:1346-53
- 119. Lippens S, Hoste E, Vandenabeele P, Agostinis P, Declercq W. 2009. Cell death in the skin. *Apoptosis* 14:549-69
- Lopaczynski W, Terry C, Nissley P. 2000. Autophosphorylation of the insulinlike growth factor I receptor cytoplasmic domain. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 279:955-60
- 121. Lowe SW, Schmitt EM, Smith SW, Osborne BA, Jacks T. 1993. p53 is required for radiation-induced apoptosis in mouse thymocytes. *Nature* 362:847-9
- 122. Lu Q, Jankowich M, Newton J, Harrington EO, Rounds S. 2010. Alterations in molecular chaperones and eIF2alpha during lung endothelial cell apoptosis. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 298:L501-8
- 123. Maccomb WS. 1962. Necrosis in treatment of intraoral cancer by radiation therapy. *The American journal of roentgenology, radium therapy, and nuclear medicine* 87:431-40
- 124. Magi B, Ettorre A, Liberatori S, Bini L, Andreassi M, et al. 2004. Selectivity of protein carbonylation in the apoptotic response to oxidative stress associated with photodynamic therapy: a cell biochemical and proteomic investigation. *Cell Death Differ* 11:842-52
- 125. Maisonneuve E, Fraysse L, Lignon S, Capron L, Dukan S. 2008. Carbonylated proteins are detectable only in a degradation-resistant aggregate state in Escherichia coli. *J Bacteriol* 190:6609-14
- 126. Manning BD. 2004. Balancing Akt with S6K: implications for both metabolic diseases and tumorigenesis. *J Cell Biol* 167:399-403
- 127. Marcu LG. 2010. Altered fractionation in radiotherapy: from radiobiological rationale to therapeutic gain. *Cancer Treat Rev* 36:606-14
- 128. Marissen WE, Guo Y, Thomas AA, Matts RL, Lloyd RE. 2000. Identification of caspase 3-mediated cleavage and functional alteration of eukaryotic initiation factor 2alpha in apoptosis. *J Biol Chem* 275:9314-23
- 129. Mehta V. 2005. Radiation pneumonitis and pulmonary fibrosis in non-small-cell lung cancer: pulmonary function, prediction, and prevention. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys* 63:5-24
- 130. Micutkova L, Diener T, Li C, Rogowska-Wrzesinska A, Mueck C, et al. 2011. Insulin-like growth factor binding protein-6 delays replicative senescence of human fibroblasts. *Mechanisms of ageing and development* 132:468-79
- Miller A, Letautiene S, Mickevicius R, Atkocius V. 2004. Dose coverage evaluation for lung cancer radiation therapy. *Medicina (Kaunas, Lithuania)* 40:1197-206

- 132. Min SK, Lee SK, Park JS, Lee J, Paeng JY, et al. 2008. Endoplasmic reticulum stress is involved in hydrogen peroxide induced apoptosis in immortalized and malignant human oral keratinocytes. *J Oral Pathol Med* 37:490-8
- 133. Minami K, Inoue H, Terashita T, Kawakami T, Watanabe R, et al. 2007. GADD34 induces p21 expression and cellular senescence. *Oncology reports* 17:1481-5
- 134. Mirzaei H, Regnier F. 2008. Protein:protein aggregation induced by protein oxidation. J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci 873:8-14
- 135. Mirzapoiazova T, Kolosova IA, Romer L, Garcia JG, Verin AD. 2005. The role of caldesmon in the regulation of endothelial cytoskeleton and migration. *Journal of cellular physiology* 203:520-8
- 136. Miyauchi H, Minamino T, Tateno K, Kunieda T, Toko H, Komuro I. 2004. Akt negatively regulates the in vitro lifespan of human endothelial cells via a p53/p21-dependent pathway. *EMBO J* 23:212-20
- 137. Moretti L, Cha YI, Niermann KJ, Lu B. 2007. Switch between apoptosis and autophagy: radiation-induced endoplasmic reticulum stress? *Cell Cycle* 6:793-8
- 138. Mount D, Bruce WR. 1964. Local Plasma Volume and Vascular Permeability of Rabbit Skin after Irradiation. *Radiation research* 23:430-45
- 139. Muller M. 2009. Cellular senescence: molecular mechanisms, in vivo significance, and redox considerations. *Antioxid Redox Signal* 11:59-98
- 140. Mungunsukh O, Griffin AJ, Lee YH, Day RM. 2010. Bleomycin Induces the Extrinsic Apoptotic Pathway in Pulmonary Endothelial Cells. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*
- 141. Naing A, Lorusso P, Fu S, Hong D, Chen HX, et al. 2013. Insulin growth factor receptor (IGF-1R) antibody cixutumumab combined with the mTOR inhibitor temsirolimus in patients with metastatic adrenocortical carcinoma. *Br J Cancer*
- 142. Nakagawa T, Yuan J. 2000. Cross-talk between two cysteine protease families. Activation of caspase-12 by calpain in apoptosis. *J Cell Biol* 150:887-94
- 143. Nakagawa T, Zhu H, Morishima N, Li E, Xu J, et al. 2000. Caspase-12 mediates endoplasmic-reticulum-specific apoptosis and cytotoxicity by amyloid-beta. *Nature* 403:98-103
- 144. Nogueira V, Park Y, Chen CC, Xu PZ, Chen ML, et al. 2008. Akt determines replicative senescence and oxidative or oncogenic premature senescence and sensitizes cells to oxidative apoptosis. *Cancer cell* 14:458-70
- 145. Oh CW, Bump EA, Kim JS, Janigro D, Mayberg MR. 2001. Induction of a senescence-like phenotype in bovine aortic endothelial cells by ionizing radiation. *Radiation research* 156:232-40
- 146. Oldham S, Hafen E. 2003. Insulin/IGF and target of rapamycin signaling: a TOR de force in growth control. *Trends in cell biology* 13:79-85
- 147. Onoda JM, Kantak SS, Diglio CA. 1999. Radiation induced endothelial cell retraction in vitro: correlation with acute pulmonary edema. *Pathology oncology research : POR* 5:49-55
- 148. Oyama K, Okawa T, Nakagawa H, Takaoka M, Andl CD, et al. 2007. AKT induces senescence in primary esophageal epithelial cells but is permissive for differentiation as revealed in organotypic culture. *Oncogene* 26:2353-64

- 149. Panganiban RA, Mungunsukh O, Day RM. 2012. X-irradiation induces ER stress, apoptosis, and senescence in pulmonary artery endothelial cells. *Int J Radiat Biol*
- 150. Partridge M, Ramos M, Sardaro A, Brada M. 2011. Dose escalation for non-small cell lung cancer: analysis and modelling of published literature. *Radiother Oncol* 99:6-11
- 151. Pavelic K, Bukovic D, Pavelic J. 2002. The role of insulin-like growth factor 2 and its receptors in human tumors. *Mol Med* 8:771-80
- 152. Persad S, Attwell S, Gray V, Mawji N, Deng JT, et al. 2001. Regulation of protein kinase B/Akt-serine 473 phosphorylation by integrin-linked kinase: critical roles for kinase activity and amino acids arginine 211 and serine 343. *J Biol Chem* 276:27462-9
- 153. Petit-Frere C, Capulas E, Lyon DA, Norbury CJ, Lowe JE, et al. 2000. Apoptosis and cytokine release induced by ionizing or ultraviolet B radiation in primary and immortalized human keratinocytes. *Carcinogenesis* 21:1087-95
- 154. Qiu W, Leibowitz B, Zhang L, Yu J. 2010. Growth factors protect intestinal stem cells from radiation-induced apoptosis by suppressing PUMA through the PI3K/AKT/p53 axis. *Oncogene* 29:1622-32
- 155. Rao RV, Castro-Obregon S, Frankowski H, Schuler M, Stoka V, et al. 2002. Coupling endoplasmic reticulum stress to the cell death program. An Apaf-1independent intrinsic pathway. *J Biol Chem* 277:21836-42
- 156. Rebbaa A, Zheng X, Chou PM, Mirkin BL. 2003. Caspase inhibition switches doxorubicin-induced apoptosis to senescence. *Oncogene* 22:2805-11
- 157. Rhee SG. 1999. Redox signaling: hydrogen peroxide as intracellular messenger. *Experimental & molecular medicine* 31:53-9
- 158. Riedemann J, Macaulay VM. 2006. IGF1R signalling and its inhibition. *Endocrine-related cancer* 13 Suppl 1:S33-43
- 159. Riedl SJ, Salvesen GS. 2007. The apoptosome: signalling platform of cell death. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 8:405-13
- 160. Rios-Moreno MJ, Jaramillo S, Diaz-Delgado M, Sanchez-Leon M, Trigo-Sanchez I, et al. 2011. Differential activation of MAPK and PI3K/AKT/mTOR pathways and IGF1R expression in gastrointestinal stromal tumors. *Anticancer Res* 31:3019-25
- 161. Rodel C, Haas J, Groth A, Grabenbauer GG, Sauer R, Rodel F. 2003. Spontaneous and radiation-induced apoptosis in colorectal carcinoma cells with different intrinsic radiosensitivities: survivin as a radioresistance factor. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 55:1341-7
- 162. Roninson IB, Broude EV, Chang BD. 2001. If not apoptosis, then what? Treatment-induced senescence and mitotic catastrophe in tumor cells. *Drug Resist Updat* 4:303-13
- 163. Rosiello RA, Merrill WW. 1990. Radiation-induced lung injury. *Clin Chest Med* 11:65-71
- 164. Ryan U. 1948 Isolation and characterization of pulmonary endothelial cells. *Environmental health perspectives* 56:103-14
- 165. Sakharov DV, Bunschoten A, van Weelden H, Wirtz KW. 2003. Photodynamic treatment and H2O2-induced oxidative stress result in different patterns of cellular protein oxidation. *Eur J Biochem* 270:4859-65

- 166. Salatino M, Schillaci R, Proietti CJ, Carnevale R, Frahm I, et al. 2004. Inhibition of in vivo breast cancer growth by antisense oligodeoxynucleotides to type I insulin-like growth factor receptor mRNA involves inactivation of ErbBs, PI-3K/Akt and p42/p44 MAPK signaling pathways but not modulation of progesterone receptor activity. *Oncogene* 23:5161-74
- 167. Sancho-Martinez SM, Piedrafita FJ, Cannata-Andia JB, Lopez-Novoa JM, Lopez-Hernandez FJ. 2011. Necrotic concentrations of cisplatin activate the apoptotic machinery but inhibit effector caspases and interfere with the execution of apoptosis. *Toxicol Sci* 122:73-85
- Sequeira SJ, Wen HC, Avivar-Valderas A, Farias EF, Aguirre-Ghiso JA. 2009. Inhibition of eIF2alpha dephosphorylation inhibits ErbB2-induced deregulation of mammary acinar morphogenesis. *BMC Cell Biol* 10:64
- 169. Shaw E. 1990. Cysteinyl proteinases and their selective inactivation. *Adv Enzymol Relat Areas Mol Biol* 63:271-347
- 170. Shaw P, Bovey R, Tardy S, Sahli R, Sordat B, Costa J. 1992. Induction of apoptosis by wild-type p53 in a human colon tumor-derived cell line. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 89:4495-9
- 171. Sikic BI. 1986. Biochemical and cellular determinants of bleomycin cytotoxicity. *Cancer Surv* 5:81-91
- 172. Simonen P, Hamilton C, Ferguson S, Ostwald P, O'Brien M, et al. 1998. Do inflammatory processes contribute to radiation induced erythema observed in the skin of humans? *Radiother Oncol* 46:73-82
- 173. Soti C, Sreedhar AS, Csermely P. 2003. Apoptosis, necrosis and cellular senescence: chaperone occupancy as a potential switch. *Aging cell* 2:39-45
- 174. Stitt-Fischer MS, Ungerman RK, Wilen DS, Wasserloos K, Renz LM, et al. 2010. Manganese Superoxide Dismutase is not Protective in Bovine Pulmonary Artery Endothelial Cells at Systemic Oxygen Levels. *Radiation research* 174:670-90
- 175. Susnow N, Zeng L, Margineantu D, Hockenbery DM. 2009. Bcl-2 family proteins as regulators of oxidative stress. *Semin Cancer Biol* 19:42-9
- 176. Szegezdi E, Fitzgerald U, Samali A. 2003. Caspase-12 and ER-stress-mediated apoptosis: the story so far. *Ann N Y Acad Sci* 1010:186-94
- 177. Szegezdi E, Logue SE, Gorman AM, Samali A. 2006. Mediators of endoplasmic reticulum stress-induced apoptosis. *EMBO Rep* 7:880-5
- 178. Tagawa Y, Hiramatsu N, Kasai A, Hayakawa K, Okamura M, et al. 2008. Induction of apoptosis by cigarette smoke via ROS-dependent endoplasmic reticulum stress and CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein-homologous protein (CHOP). *Free Radic Biol Med* 45:50-9
- 179. Tamulevicius P, Wang M, Iliakis G. 2007. Homology-directed repair is required for the development of radioresistance during S phase: interplay between double-strand break repair and checkpoint response. *Radiation research* 167:1-11
- 180. Tezuka M, Watanabe H, Nakamura S, Yu D, Aung W, et al. 2001. Antiapoptotic activity is dispensable for insulin-like growth factor I receptor-mediated clonogenic radioresistance after gamma-irradiation. *Clin Cancer Res* 7:3206-14
- 181. Thannickal VJ, Fanburg BL. 2000. Reactive oxygen species in cell signaling. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol* 279:L1005-28

- 182. Thomas SE, Malzer E, Ordonez A, Dalton LE, van 't Wout EF, et al. 2013. p53 and translation attenuation regulate distinct cell cycle checkpoints during ER stress. *J Biol Chem*
- 183. Tran D. 2008. IGF-1 induces premature cellular senescence through inhibition of Sirt1 and activation Ofp53. Boston University, Division of Graduate Medical Sciences Dissertation
- 184. Tran D, University B. 2008. *IGF-1 Induces Premature Cellular Senescence Through Inhibition of SirT1 and Activation Ofp53*. Boston University
- 185. Tsang KY, Chan D, Bateman JF, Cheah KS. 2010. In vivo cellular adaptation to ER stress: survival strategies with double-edged consequences. J Cell Sci 123:2145-54
- Tsaytler PA, M COF, Sakharov DV, Krijgsveld J, Egmond MR. 2008. Immediate protein targets of photodynamic treatment in carcinoma cells. *J Proteome Res* 7:3868-78
- 187. Turner BC, Haffty BG, Narayanan L, Yuan J, Havre PA, et al. 1997. Insulin-like growth factor-I receptor overexpression mediates cellular radioresistance and local breast cancer recurrence after lumpectomy and radiation. *Cancer Res* 57:3079-83
- 188. Uckun FM, Ramsay NK, Waddick KG, Jaszcz W, Chandan-Langlie M, et al. 1991. In vitro and in vivo radiation resistance associated with CD3 surface antigen expression in T-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Blood* 78:2945-55
- 189. Valenciano A, Henriquez-Hernandez LA, Moreno M, Lloret M, Lara PC. 2012. Role of IGF-1 receptor in radiation response. *Translational oncology* 5:1-9
- 190. Vavrova J, Marekova M, Vokurkova D. 2001. Radiation-induced apoptosis and cell cycle progression in TP53-deficient human leukemia cell line HL-60. *Neoplasma* 48:26-33
- 191. Verheij M, Bartelink H. 2000. Radiation-induced apoptosis. *Cell Tissue Res* 301:133-42
- 192. Wang E. 1995. Senescent human fibroblasts resist programmed cell death, and failure to suppress bcl2 is involved. *Cancer research* 55:2284-92
- 193. Waters CM, Taylor JM, Molteni A, Ward WF. 1996. Dose-response effects of radiation on the permeability of endothelial cells in culture. *Radiation research* 146:321-8
- 194. Weber GF, Menko AS. 2005. The canonical intrinsic mitochondrial death pathway has a non-apoptotic role in signaling lens cell differentiation. *J Biol Chem* 280:22135-45
- 195. Weitsman GE, Weebadda W, Ung K, Murphy LC. 2009. Reactive oxygen species induce phosphorylation of serine 118 and 167 on estrogen receptor alpha. *Breast cancer research and treatment* 118:269-79
- 196. Wen B, Deutsch E, Marangoni E, Frascona V, Maggiorella L, et al. 2001. Tyrphostin AG 1024 modulates radiosensitivity in human breast cancer cells. Br J Cancer 85:2017-21
- 197. Werner H, Re GG, Drummond IA, Sukhatme VP, Rauscher FJ, 3rd, et al. 1993. Increased expression of the insulin-like growth factor I receptor gene, IGF1R, in Wilms tumor is correlated with modulation of IGF1R promoter activity by the WT1 Wilms tumor gene product. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 90:5828-32

- 198. Williams JP, Johnston CJ, Finkelstein JN. 2010. Treatment for radiation-induced pulmonary late effects: spoiled for choice or looking in the wrong direction? *Curr Drug Targets* 11:1386-94
- 199. Wlodkowic D, Telford W, Skommer J, Darzynkiewicz Z. Apoptosis and beyond: cytometry in studies of programmed cell death. *Methods in cell biology* 103:55-98
- 200. Wurstbauer K, Weise H, Deutschmann H, Kopp P, Merz F, et al. 2010. Non-small cell lung cancer in stages I-IIIB: Long-term results of definitive radiotherapy with doses >/= 80 Gy in standard fractionation. *Strahlenther Onkol* 186:551-7
- 201. Xiao M, Whitnall M. 2009. Pharmacological Countermeasures for the Acute Radiation Syndrome. *Current Molecular Pharmacology* 2:122-33
- 202. Yasuhara S, Zhu Y, Matsui T, Tipirneni N, Yasuhara Y, et al. 2003. Comparison of comet assay, electron microscopy, and flow cytometry for detection of apoptosis. *J Histochem Cytochem* 51:873-85
- 203. Yokouchi M, Hiramatsu N, Hayakawa K, Okamura M, Du S, et al. 2008. Involvement of selective reactive oxygen species upstream of proapoptotic branches of unfolded protein response. J Biol Chem 283:4252-60
- 204. Yonish-Rouach E, Resnitzky D, Lotem J, Sachs L, Kimchi A, Oren M. 1991. Wild-type p53 induces apoptosis of myeloid leukaemic cells that is inhibited by interleukin-6. *Nature* 352:345-7
- 205. Yoshida H, Matsui T, Yamamoto A, Okada T, Mori K. 2001. XBP1 mRNA is induced by ATF6 and spliced by IRE1 in response to ER stress to produce a highly active transcription factor. *Cell* 107:881-91
- 206. Yoshida K, Kubo Y, Kusunoki Y, Morishita Y, Nagamura H, et al. 2009. Caspase-independent cell death without generation of reactive oxygen species in irradiated MOLT-4 human leukemia cells. *Cell Immunol* 255:61-8
- 207. Young EF, Smilenov LB. 2011. Impedance-based surveillance of transient permeability changes in coronary endothelial monolayers after exposure to ionizing radiation. *Radiation research* 176:415-24
- 208. Yu AL, Fuchshofer R, Kook D, Kampik A, Bloemendal H, Welge-Lussen U. 2009. Subtoxic oxidative stress induces senescence in retinal pigment epithelial cells via TGF-beta release. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science* 50:926-35
- 209. Zeng L, Zampetaki A, Margariti A, Pepe AE, Alam S, et al. 2009. Sustained activation of XBP1 splicing leads to endothelial apoptosis and atherosclerosis development in response to disturbed flow. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 106:8326-31
- Zhang B, Wang Y, Pang X, Su Y, Ai G, Wang T. 2010. ER stress induced by ionising radiation in IEC-6 cells. *International journal of radiation biology* 86:429-35
- 211. Zhang F, Zhang T, Teng ZH, Zhang R, Wang JB, Mei QB. 2009. Sensitization to gamma-irradiation-induced cell cycle arrest and apoptosis by the histone deacetylase inhibitor trichostatin A in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) cells. *Cancer Biol Ther* 8:823-31
- 212. Zhivotovsky B, Orrenius S. 2005. Caspase-2 function in response to DNA damage. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 331:859-67